Homicides of Adults in Cuyahoga County, Ohio, 1861-1870
Police court report for year ending 3/31/1867:  1 M-2 and 1 Murder case

Police court report for month of 7/1867:  1 M-2

Monthly reports complete, 12/1866 to 11/1867:  only 1 state case of murder examined before the police court in that time.  SOUNDS LOW!

Cleveland Leader 8/2/1870: 4/3:  “The number of homicides for the year ending July 1, was five; suicides, 22; killed by accident, 27; of violent death and unnatural disease, 16; total, 70.  The number of inquests held was 37.”

2186:  Cleveland Leader 10/11/1870: ed.: 2/2:  “Anson L. Robinson has been acquitted of the murder of Mrs. Lunsford.  The general opinion of the community will prove this verdict.  He was not only absolved by the evidence but the general tendency of it exonerated him.”






CUY
Class of death:   

Class of crime:   
Relationship:    
Motive:  

Intoxication?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:


Time of day:


Days until death:  


SUSPECT(s):


VICTIM(s):


Cause of death:  


Circumstances:   

Inquest:   


Indictment:  


Term of court:  

Court proceedings:  

Legal records:  
Newspapers:
Other sources:  
Census:  
Genealogy:  

Suspect:  



Ethnicity:



Race:




Gender:



Age:




Phys char:



Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Personal history:  


Victim:  



Ethnicity:



Race:




Gender:



Age:




Phys char:



Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Personal history:  


1861, Aug. 13







Cleveland, CUY
P

INQ
Class:    certain
Crime:   HOM

Rela:     TAVERN CUSTOMER by CUSTOMER
Motive:  QUARREL 
Intox?:  probably both
Day of week:
T
Holiday?:
no


Time of day:


Days to death:  0


HOM:  Charles Wagner m. Albrecht Semmelmann

Weapon:  fists, perhaps chairs, bottles, or other saloon paraphernalia [blunt]

Circumstances:  Two men (with the same occupation) entered into a fight.  The article is vague as to how the fight started, but it does point out that both men were blacksmiths. Zimmelmann’s intestines ruptured due to the fight


Inquest:  The coroner’s inquest determined that the victim’s intestines ruptured, stemming from an old injury. The fight aggravated the injury and the accused was arrested.  420:  i.d. 8/13/1861:  abdomen

Indictment:  pending


Term: pending


Court proceedings:  pending
Legal Records:  


Cuyahoga Co. inquest 420

Newspaper:  

1978 - Leader Aug. 16:4/1 - Coroner Hartman was summoned on Aug. 13 to hold an inquest on the body of a Bavarian named Albricht Zimmelmann, a blacksmith, who died very suddenly on that date under circumstances which justified a coroner's inquest.


The facts of the case are these: On Aug. 13 Zimmelmann and eight other men went to William Backus' saloon. There Zimmelmann got into a brawl with Charles Wagner, also a blacksmith. After the brawl, Zimmelmann died.

A post-mortem examination revealed that an old intestinal rupture, already healed, had become disconnected by either violent exertion or a blow. The jury's verdict was that Zimmelmann died from this rupture, but they could not determine what caused the rupture. Wagner has been arrested.
Census:  

Genealogy:

Accused:  

Charles Wagner


Ethnicity:

[German]

Race:


[w]

Gender:

m

Age:


adult


Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation:

blacksmith


Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Victim:  

Albricht Zimmelmann


Ethnicity:

German

Race:


[w]

Gender:

m


Age:


adult


Literate:



Marital Status:



Children:



Occupation:

blacksmith

Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:


1861, Oct. 20






Rockport, CUY
P

Class:    probable
Crime:   HOM MANSL
Rela:    NONDOM
Motive:  FEUD / trespassing
Intox?:  

Day of week:
Sun
Holiday?:
no


Time of day:


Days to death:  0


HOM:  Thomas Worthy, Frederick Beggett, and Jacob Yonker m. Albert Wager

Weapon:  fists, perhaps clubs, etc.


Circumstances:  The men were standing on the victim’s property.  The victim ordered the men off his property. The men were likely insulted or threatened by the property owner.  The men subsequently beat the victim to death.


Inquest:  


Indictment:  Yonker and Beggett were found guilty. Worthy was discharged.


Term: pending


Court proceedings:  one of the accused was released because he did not participate in the beating
Legal Records:  

Newspaper:  
1979 - Leader Nov. 5:3/4 – “Yesterday morning” Thomas Worthy, Frederick Beggett, and Jacob Yonker “were brought before Esquire Benham for examination” on a charge of manslaughter.  They were arrested Saturday night “and lodged in the County Jail” on charge of manslaughter in Rockport.  Examination was postponed until 1 pm “this P.M.”  On Oct. 20 these three allegedly assaulted “and violently beat, oln his own premises in Rockport township—upon which they had infringed and were ordered off by him.”  Albert Wager of Rockport when he ordered them off his property. Wager subsequently died of his injuries on Friday night last.  “Another man, one of the assaulting party, has not yet been apprehended.”
1980 - Leader Nov. 7:3/2 - Yonker and Beggett, arraigned for manslaughter in connection with the death of Albert Wager of Rockport, were bound over to the court of common pleas by justice Benham yesterday.  Jailed in default of $700 bond each.  Worthy has been discharged because he took no part in the attack, “it having been shown that when ordered off the premises he obeyed, and therefore, though one of the party, took no part in the assault.”
Census:  

Genealogy:

Accused:  

Thomas Worthy (dismissed), Frederick Beggett, and Jacob Yonker

Ethnicity:

[German for Yonker]
Race:


[w]


Gender:

m


Age:


adults


Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Victim:  

Albert Wager

Ethnicity:

[German]
Race:


[w]

Gender:

m


Age:


adult


Literate:



Marital Status:



Children:



Occupation:



Town:


Rockport


Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:


1862, Feb. 26




Cleveland, CUY

INQ

Class:   certain
Crime:   HOM
Rela:    LEGAL SUSPECT by WATCHMAN
Motive:  PREVENTING THEFT
Intox?:  

Day of week:
W
Holiday?:



Time of day:
3 am
Days to death:  0

HOM:  Beverly Foot m. Andrew Bowman


Weapon:  pistol [handgun]  

Circumstances:  


Inquest:  431:  i.d. 2/26/1862.  R. C. Hopkins, coroner.  Verdict:  shooting.  “by a Pistol Shot Wound at the hands of Beverly Foot on the morning” of 2/26 “at about 3 o’Clock said Foot being then in the Employ of the Clev’d Painsville & Ashtabula R. R. Co. as a night Watchman, the said Bowman being thus engaged in committing depredations upon the property of said Co. said Foot discharging said pistol as he supposed in defence against a threatened attack upon him.”

Indictment:  


Term: 


Court proceedings:  
Legal Records:  


Cuyahoga Co. inquest 431

Newspaper:  

Census:  

Genealogy:

Accused:  

Beverly Foot
Ethnicity:



Race:


w
Gender:

m
Age:


adult
Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation:

watchman for Cleveland, Painesville, and Ashtabula RR
Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Victim:  

Andrew Bowman

Ethnicity:

African
Race:


b
Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:



Marital Status:



Children:



Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



1862, July 







Cleveland, CUY
P




NOTE:  limited information, no name of victim

Class:    uncertain
Crime:   HOM
(drowning)


Rela:    NONDOM
Motive:  UNK
Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  0


HOM:  Richard Crizzle accused of not helping boy out of water m. ___ Johnson

Weapon:  drowned

Circumstances:  boy drowned, mother of boy accusing Crizzle of not helping the boy after falling into the water.  Witness says Crizzle not near boy when fell in water.


Inquest:  [no]


Indictment:  


Term: 


Court proceedings:  
Legal Records:  

Newspaper:  

“2526 – the Cleveland LEADER  July 29:3/1 - A colored woman named Johnson of the west side yesterday swore out a warrant for the arrest of Richard Crizzle, a colored man, on a murder charge.  She states that he enticed her six-year-old boy aboard a skiff with him in the old river bed and failed to make any effort at rescue when the boy fell into the water.  There is considerable mystery, and the man will answer no questions.
2527 – the Cleveland LEADER July 30:3/1 - The body of the colored boy, Johnson, who was drowned in the old river bed, has been found. A witness says the prisoner, Crizzle, was nowhere near when the boy fell into the water.”
Census:  

Genealogy:

Accused:  

Richard Crizzle



Ethnicity:



Race:


b



Gender:

m


Age:


adult



Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Victim: 

___ Johnson 



Ethnicity:



Race:


b



Gender:

m





Age:


6



Literate:



Marital Status:

s
Children:

n
Occupation:

none
Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



1862, Aug. 24






Olmstead, CUY


P
Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    NONDOM

Motive:  QUARREL over violation of Sabbath
Intox?:  [no]

Day of week:
Sun
Holiday?:
no


Time of day:


Days to death:  [0]


HOM:  George Hersnnel m. Claude Humphrey

Weapon:  knife

Circumstances:  Humphrey was stabbed by Hersnnel, after he “remonstrated with Hersnnel for working on Sunday”


Inquest: no


Indictment:  charged with stabbing Humphrey


Term: 


Court proceedings:  discharged by Justice Carpenter, proved to be self defense
Legal Records:  

Newspaper:  

“2528 – the Cleveland LEADER  Aug. 25:3/1 - At Olmsted, a blacksmith named George Hersnnel was arrested and discharged after being charged with stabbing Claude Humphrey, who later died. 

Dissatisfied neighbors had Hersnnel re-arrested. He is a German of harmless appearance, about 40 years old. He pleaded self-defense and showed knife wounds.

The trouble started when Humphrey remonstrated with Hersnnel because he was working on Sunday.


2539 – the Cleveland LEADER  Aug. 28:3/1 - George Hersnnel of Olmsted, charged with the murder of Claude Humphrey, has been discharged by Justice Carpenter. The evidence proved self-defense.”


Census:  

Genealogy:

Accused:
 
 George Hersnnel



Ethnicity:

German


Race:


w


Gender:

m


Age:


40


Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation:

blacksmith


Town:


Olmstead



Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Victim: 
 
Claude Humphrey



Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m


Age:


adult


Literate:



Marital Status:



Children:



Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



1862, Nov 22







Cleveland, CUY
P
INQ
Class:  certain 

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    NONDOM

Motive:  UNK
Intox?:  possibly victim
Day of week:
Sat
Holiday?:
no


Time of day:


Days to death:  0

HOM:  Louis French Jr. m. William King.


Weapon:  knife


Circumstances:  French stabbed King after King hit French in the mouth, French claimed self-defense.  Died at the corner of Miami and Bolivar streets.

Inquest:  499:  i.d. 11-22-1862.  E. Hessenmuller, coroner.  Verdict: murder.  “by a wound inflicted upon his body with a poniard in the hands of Lewis French.”

Indictment:  yes, murder 2nd degree


Term:  11/1862

Court proceedings:  Judge Coffinberry put bail at $1500 for French, Dec 9, 1862
Legal Records:  


Cuyahoga Corner’s Inquest:

449   King, Wm.                  25       11-22-1862     murdered

Newspaper:  

“2533 - I. Nov. 24:3/1 - Louis French, jr., 18, is suspected of stabbing to death William King, 25, near the market on Nov. 22. French escaped.

2534 - L Nov. 25; ed: 4/2 - Louis French, jr, gave himself up to Sheriff Craw yesterday.  French said: The Negro appeared to be intoxicated, and said, "Get out if my way!" and struck me on the mouth. I didn't mean to kill him, but I drew my knife to defend myself.  French said that a woman was passing about two rods above Eagle st., At Kinsman st., at the time the Negro struck him. She cried, "Oh" and hurried along.  "The woman... ought to make herself known.”
2535 - L Nov. 26; ed:4/1 - The grand jury has found a true bill of murder in the second degree against Louis French, jr. He plead not guilty in court today.

Attorneys for the defense are M. B. Castle, Esq., and Samuel Adams, Esq.
"We are informed...that his...life has been...threatened by a certain man.... This fact...may have an important bearing on the case. He might have supposed that the negro was that man."  




(3)
2536 - L Dec. 9:4/1 - This morning Judge Coffinberry fixed the bail at $1,500 in the case of Louis French, who is to be tried at the next term of court on the charge of killing the colored man, William King.   



Census:  

Genealogy:

Accused: 

 Louis French, Jr.,



Ethnicity:



Race:


w



Gender:
 
m



Age:

 
18




Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation:



Town:


[Cleveland]


Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Victim:
  
William King



Ethnicity:



Race:


b



Gender: 

m


Age:


25



Literate:



Marital Status:



Children:



Occupation:



Town:


Cleveland


Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



1863, Aug. 18





Cleveland, CUY
P
INQ

Class:   certain
Crime:   HOM
Rela:     SPOUSE WIFE by HUSBAND
Motive:  UNK domestic dispute

Intox?:   

Day of week:
T
Holiday?:
no


Time of day:
daytime

Days to death:  0


HOM:  Isaac Bell m. Mary Ann Bell (his wife)

Weapon: beating [phys].  d. later that day.

Circumstances:  IB beat MAB to death [home victim & accused]
Inquest:  460   Bell, Mary Ann                       8-17-1863.  J. H. Marshall, coroner.  Verdict:  murder.  Found at the house of Kelley on West River St. near the Mahoning RR Coal dock.  “by bruises received from her Husband Isaac Bell.”

Indictment:  


Term: 


Court proceedings:  arrested
Legal Records:   

Cleveland Coroner Report

460   Bell, Mary Ann                       8-17-1863    murder

Newspaper:  
Cleveland Leader  1493 - L Aug. 19:3/2 - Isaac Bell, residing on Franklin St. hill, was arrested yesterday and charged with the murder of his wife, Mary Ann Bell, who died from the effects of a beating he allegedly administered earlier in the day.
Census:  

Genealogy:

Accused:  

Isaac Bell



Ethnicity: 

[Scots]
Race: 


[w]
Gender: 

m
Age: 


adult

Literate: 

Marital Status: 
married

Children: 

Occupation: 

Town: 


Cleveland

Birthplace: 

Religion: 

Organizations: 

Victim:  

Mary Ann Bell


Ethnicity: 

[Scots]
Race: 


[w]
Gender:

 f
Age: 


 adult

Literate: 

Marital Status: 
married

Children: 

Occupation: 

Town: 


Cleveland

Birthplace: 

Religion: 

Organizations: 

1864, Apr.                                                                                     [Cleveland], CUY

P

Class:   probable
Crime:   HOM

Rela:    BROTHEL PROPRIETOR by CUSTOMER
Motive:  alleged THEFT of wallet of customer
Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


HOM:  Jacob Udech m. Mr. John Fay (and aik on Auguste Fay)

Weapon:  knife


Circumstances:  After leaving a brothel Mr. Orthner found his wallet missing. He confronted the two owners, John and Auguste Fay and a fight started.In this fight Orthner pulled out a knife. Auguste was wounded and John  killed.  


Inquest:  


Indictment:  


Term: 


Court proceedings:  Jacob Udech was charged with murder
Legal Records:  

Newspaper:  

1048-Leader Apr. 20:4/2- Mr, Orthner and two other comrades of the 37th O. V. I. visited a home of prostitution. Upon leaving he discovered that his wallet was gone. Rushing back he accosted  John and Auguste Fay, owners of the house. A fight started; Mr. Orthner drew his knife, and in the scuffle Auguste was wounded and John was killed. The alleged murderer has not been captured.

1050-L May 21: 4/3- An indictment was presented by the grand jury of Cuyahoga county against Jacob Udech charged with murdering John. G. Fay. A Mr. Ebinger, accused of aiding in the crime, was set free.

Census:  

Genealogy:

Accused:  

Jacob Udech 



Ethnicity:

[German]
Race:


w



Gender: 

m



Age:


adult



Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation:

soldier
Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:

soldier in 37th Ohio Volunteer Infantry
Victim:  

Mr. John Fay 



Ethnicity:



Race:


w



Gender:

m



Age:


adult



Literate:



Marital Status:



Children:



Occupation:

brothel owner


Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



1864, Apr.

                                                                                  Bedford, CUY


P

INQ

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela: NONDOM   

Motive:  UNK
Intox?:  
Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


HOM:  Lawrence O’Brian is suspected of m. William Sheridan


Weapon:  billet of wood [blunt]

Circumstances:  William Sheridan was killed in a fight at Bedford .


Inquest:  i.d. 4-24-1864.  L. Tarbell, acting coroner.  Found at the resident of John Fahy.  Verdict:  wounds:  “a fracture of the skull involving the right Parietal & temporal bones producing compression of the brain from hemorrhage.”  “inflicted by a blow with a billet of wood in the hands of Lawrence O’Brien.”

Indictment:  


Term: 


Court proceedings:  no arrests made
Legal Records:  

Cuyahoga co. Inquest :

466       Sheridan, Wm.                   23                  4-24-1864                 murdered

Newspaper:  

1049-Leader Apr. 26: 4/3- William Sheridan was killed in an affray at Bedford. The police are on the track of the murderers, but have not yet made any arrests. Lawrence O’Brian is one of the suspects.

Census:  

Genealogy:

Accused:  

Lawrence O’Brian 



Ethnicity:

[Irish]
Race:


w



Gender: 

m



Age: 


adult




Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Victim:  

William Sheridan



Ethnicity:



Race:


w



Gender: 

m



Age:


23
Literate:



Marital Status:



Children:



Occupation:



Town:


Bedford
Birthplace:

b. Ireland
Religion:



Organizations:



1864, July                                                                       Cleveland, CUY




P

INQ


CHECK:  assume the inquest and newspaper article refer to same person

Class:    probable
Crime:   HOM

Rela:     [NONDOM] DUMPED BODY
Motive:  UNK
Intox?:  possibly victim
Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  [0]

HOM:  unknown person(s) m. Lottie Dennis [aka Lattie Lewis] 


Weapon:  [violence]

Circumstances:  the body of Lottie Dennis was found murdered in the old river bed (west side) near Laffrinier’s ship yard


Inquest:  469:  Lattie Lewis  i.d. 7/2/1864.  N. B. Prentiss, coroner.  Veredict:  murdered.  “by violence inflicted by parties unknown.”

Indictment:  


Term: 


Court proceedings:  no suspect named
Legal Records:  


Cuyahoga County inquest 469

Newspaper:  

1051-Leader July 4:4/4- The body of a young woman, presumably Lottie Dennis, was found in the old river bed near Laffirinier’s ship yard. She has been addicted to drunkenness.

1052-L July 5:1/5- A coroner’s inquest held in connection with the finding of the body of Lottie Dennis, in the old river bed, resulted in the return of a verdict of murder.

Census:  

Genealogy:

Accused: 

___
Ethnicity:



Race:



Gender






Age:






Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Victim: 

Lottie Dennis
[aka Lattie Lewis]
Ethnicity:



Race:


[w]



Gender:

[f]



Age:


19
Literate:



Marital Status:



Children:



Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



1864, July 18                                                                                       [Cleveland], CUY

P

INQ
Class:   certain
Crime:   HOM

Rela:    NONDOM

Motive:  QUARREL
Intox?:  

Day of week:
M
Holiday?:
no


Time of day:


Days to death:  0

HOM:  Capt. Diehl murdered Marshall [or Mary Tyler, according to inquest]

Weapon:  pistol [handgun]

Circumstances:  During an argument, Capt. Diehl shot and killed an African-American woman named Marshall.


Inquest:  470:  Mary Tyler  i.d. 7/18/1864.  N. B. Prentiss, coroner.  Verdict:  shooting.  “by a pistol shot at the hands of Captain Jacob Diehl.”

Indictment:  


Term: 


Court proceedings:  
Legal Records:  


Cuyahoga Co. inquest 470 on Mary Tyler

Newspaper:  

1053-Leader  July 19: 4/3- An argument between an aged colored women named Marshall and Captain Diehl, former commander of the “ Garibaldi Guards,” caused the captain to shoot her, resulting in immediate death. Captain Diehl has the reputation of being a bully and a blackguard.

Census:  

Genealogy:


Accused:  

Capt. Diehl



Ethnicity:

German
Race:


w



Gender:

m



Age:


adult



Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation:

army captain
Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Victim:  

Marshall  [or Mary Tyler]


Ethnicity:



Race:


African-American



Gender: 

f



Age:


[65]

elderly



Literate:



Marital Status:



Children:



Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



1864, Nov. 5                                                                     Cleveland, CUY

P

INQ

Class:  certain 

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    TAVERN CUSTOMER by CUSTOMER
Motive:  GRUDGE / HONOR – MM had claimed he could whip EGJr.
Intox?:  possibly both
Day of week:
Sat
Holiday?:
no


Time of day:


Days to death:  0


HOM:  Mr. Michael Meehan murdered Mr. Edward Gibbons Jr.


Weapon:  knife


Circumstances:  A fight broke out between Michael Meehan and Edward Gibbons jr. at Henry Shaffer’s saloon. During this fight Meehan stabbed Gibbons who ‘fell on his face and died.’

Inquest:  yes, i.d. 11-6-1864:  violence

Indictment:  


Term: 


Court proceedings:  $250 reward offered for the arrest of Michael Meehan [fled]
Legal Records:  

Cuyahoga co. Inquest:


474      Gibbons, Edward                                   11-6-1864                  violence

Newspaper:  

1055- Leader Nov. 7:4/2- A fight which occurred in the saloon of Henry Shaffer at Dodge and Harrison sts. On Nov. 5 resulted in the fatal stabbing of Edward Gibbons, jr., by Michael Meehan.

There had been ill feeling between Mr. Meehan and Mr. Gibbons for sore time. It had been brought on by an argument that Mr. Meehan could whip Mr. Gibbons. On seeing Mr. Gibbons again, Mr. Meehan at once started another argument and after about ten minutes of fierce fighting,
Mr. Gibbons fell on his face and died. Several people witnessed the fight and were summoned by a coroner's jury to testify. The jury rendered a verdict to the effect that "the deceased came to his death by violence at the hands of Michael Meehan."
1056 - L Nov. 10:2/1 - The city council last night passed a resolution authorizing and directing the mayor to offer a reward of $250 for the arrest of Michael Meehan, a suspect in the murder of Edward Gibbons.
Census:  

Genealogy:

Accused: 

 Mr. Michael Meehan



Ethnicity:

[Irish]
Race:


w



Gender: 

m



Age:


adult



Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Victim:  

Mr. Edward Gibbons Jr.



Ethnicity:



Race:


w



Gender: 

m



Age:


adult



Literate:



Marital Status:



Children:



Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



1864, Dec. 31





Cleveland, CUY

P

INQ

NOTE:  a political dispute of some sort?

Class:   certain
Crime:  HOM Manslaughter 

Rela:   NONDOM
Motive:  QUARREL at recruiting office
Intox?:  yes, victim 

Day of week:
W
Holiday?:
no


Time of day:


Days to death:  0

HOM:  Sergeant Charles Victor m. Captain James [J. O.] Sennott

Weapon: revolver [handgun].  Killed instantly.

Circumstances:  on the public square.  Struggle with a gun and it went off.


Inquest:  477:  i.d. 12/31/1864.  N. B. Prentiss, coroner.  Verdict:  shooting.  “by a ball fired from a Pistol (commonly known as Colt’s Navy Revolver) in the hands of one Sargent Charles Victor in the United States service now on duty at the United States recruiting office on the Public Square.”

Indictment:  mansl?

Term: 


Court proceedings:  Found guilty and sentenced to one year in prison.
Legal Records:  

Cuyahoga Co. inquest 477
Newspaper:  


Cleveland Newspaper Digest

1454 - L Nov. 17/1866; ed:4/3 - We state in brief a few of the facts in the Charles Victor manslaughter case. Charles Victor was a sergeant in the recruiting office in the park. On Dec. 31, 1864, James Sennott and a friend entered the office. Both were intoxicated, and Victor ordered them out. After several attempts, Victor tried to make them go by brandishing his pistol, but during a scuffle the pistol went off and killed Sennott almost instantly.  Victor's case was pleaded by the Hon. Sherlock J. Andrews. The jury returned a verdict of guilty.

1455 - L Nov. 19/1866:3/1 - On Nov. 17, Judge Coffinberry sentenced Charles Victor, convicted of manslaughter on Nov. 16, to one year's imprisonment, this being the shortest term prescribed by law. He received his sentence with calmness and self possession.

Census:  

Genealogy:

Accused:  

Charles Victor



Ethnicity:



Race:


w
Gender:

m



Age:


adult
Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation:

Sergeant in recruiting office in the park 


Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Victim: 

James Sennott 



Ethnicity:



Race:


w
Gender:

m



Age:


37
Literate:



Marital Status:



Children:



Occupation:

Army captain
Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:

1865, June






Independence Center, CUY

P
Class:   do not count – no indication it was fatal
Crime:  HOM  

Rela:    SPOUSE WIFE by HUSBAND   

Motive: POSSESSIVE / JEALOUSY

Intox?:  

Day of week:
Sat
Holiday?:



Time of day:
night
Days to death:  


HOM:  Probick m. ___ Probick (his wife)


Weapon: gun 


Circumstances:  Probick returned home and shot his cheating wife.  


Inquest:  


Indictment:  


Term: 


Court proceedings:  
Legal Records:  

Newspaper:  

Leader- June 13, 1865:4/2 – “a bloody affray . . . last Saturday night.”  A soldier named Probick, living at Independence Center, returned from the 188th O.V.I., recently mustered out, “who came back from Columbus recently and found his wife living with another man.  He was so enraged at her infidelity, that he proceeded to her new home, and shot her. Whether he has been arrested, or the wound was mortal, is not known at this writing.”  Fur​ther information has not been obtained.


L:  read through 6/17:  no more mention

Census:  

Genealogy:

Accused:  

___ Probick



Ethnicity:

[German]
Race: 


w

Gender: 

m

Age:




Literate:



Marital Status: 
m

Children:



Occupation: 

soldier, recently mustered out


Town:


Independence Center



Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:

Civil War veteran

Victim:  

Mrs. Probick



Ethnicity:

[German]
Race: 


w


Gender: 

f


Age:


adult

Literate:



Marital Status: 
m

Children:



Occupation:



Town:


Independence Center



Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



1865, Aug.





Bedford, CUY

P

Class:   probable

Crime:  HOM

Rela:    SPOUSE COMMON-LAW WIFE by HUSBAND / BIGAMIST

Motive:  POSSESSIVE /  ESTRANGED

Intox?: yes, assailant

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


HOM:  Dr. Hughes murdered Miss Parsons


Weapon:  handgun – [revolver]

Circumstances: Dr. Hughes shot Miss Parsons twice in the head at her residence.

Inquest:  


Indictment:  yes


Term: 


Court proceedings:  
Legal Records:  

Newspaper:  

Leader- Aug. 10, 1865:4/3 - Dr. J. W. Hughes of Cleveland was convicted on a charge of bigamy after he married Miss Parsons of Bedford. Hughes was arrest​ed and sent to the penitentiary. He was pardoned later and returned to Cleveland and opened offices on Ontario St. He then sought Miss Parsons in Bedford and begged her to return and live with him. She refused. He went to a sa​loon with Oscar Russell, with whom he had come to Bedford, and drank for a while. He again went to the home of Miss Parsons, begging her to come back to him. When she again refused he shot her twice in the neck and head, killing her at once. He escaped in the carriage in which he had come, forcing the driver at the point of a gun to drive on. He abandoned the carriage when a soldier and Mr. Haines, brother-in-law of Miss Parsons, pursued him. He was later found by searchers asleep in the woods near by. He offered no resist​ance when arrested. He said he was glad he had killed her and that he had shot her out of pure love. He was brought back to Cleveland where he awaits trial.
L Aug. 12, 1865:4/4 - Dr. Hughes, mur​derer of Miss Parsons, with whom he had lived as man and wife, now claims he did not go to Bedford with intention of killing Miss Parsons. He claims now that he got the idea while intoxicated.
Herald- Aug. 15, 1865:4/3 - Oscar Russell, who was arrested with Dr. Hughes when Hughes killed Miss Parsons in Bedford, has been acquitted because he has proved that he had no connection with the mur​der, and that he was entirely innocent of any knowledge of Dr. Hughes' inten​tion to murder Miss Parsons when they left Cleveland together to go to Bedford.
L Aug. 15, 1865:4/4 - Dr. Hughes, murderer of Miss Parsons, whom he mar​ried bigamously, served as a lieuten​ant in the 5th English dragoons in the Crimean war. He was graduated from the Royal College of Surgeons in Edinburgh, and was a surgeon with the 58th O.V.I., organizing a hospital at Vicksburg. His wife left with her ill child for their former home on the Isle of Man. He did not send her away as was for​merly stated. He realizes his dread​ful condition and has made his peace with his maker.
Census:  

Genealogy:

Accused:  

Dr. Hughes



Ethnicity:

[Irish]
Race: 


w
Gender: 

m

Age:


adult

Literate: 

yes

Marital Status: 
bigamist

Children: 

1

Occupation: 

doctor



Town:


Cleveland, Ontario St.



Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Victim:  

Miss Parsons



Ethnicity:

[nb Prot]
Race: 


w




Gender: 

f


Age:


adult

Literate:



Marital Status:

annulled m. to Hughes, a bigamist

Children:



Occupation:



Town:


Bedford

Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



1865, Aug. 8




Cleveland, CUY

P

INQ

Class:   probable HOM / possible CAS GUN
Crime:  HOM 

Rela:    TAVERN CUSTOMER by PROPRIETOR (FRIENDS)

Motive:  JOKING / FOOLING / trying to frighten each other
Intox?:  yes, both

Day of week:
T
Holiday?:
no


Time of day:


Days to death:  0

HOM:  Charles Meyer murdered Alexander Miller


Weapon:  revolver [handgun]

Circumstances:  at Wittenburgh and Hoff’s Saloon, kept by Charles Fisher ande Charles Magess, 82 Water St.  Charles Mayers accidentally shot and killed Alexander Miller.


Inquest:  484:  i.d. 8/8/1865.  N. B. Prentiss, coroner.  Verdict:  shooting.  “by a ball fired from a revolver in the hands of Charles Mayers.

Indictment:  yes


Term: 


Court proceedings:  
Legal Records:  


Cuyahoga Co. inquest 484

Newspaper:  

Leader- Aug. 10, 1865:4/5 - Alexander Miller, a discharged soldier, was shot in the head and killed by Charles Meyers in the latter's saloon. The two were on the best of terms and were jesting about a drink when Meyers pointed the gun at Miller. The gun went off and killed Miller. The shooting was wit​nessed by a number of men. Meyers gave himself up at once to police. He will be charged with criminal careless​ness. The wife and three child​ren of Miller survive
Census:  

Genealogy:

Accused:  

Charles Meyers



Ethnicity:

[German]

Race:


w

Gender: 

m

Age:


adult

Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation: 

saloon owner

Town:


Cleveland

Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Victim:  

Alexander Miller



Ethnicity:

[German]

Race:


w

Gender: 

m

Age:


adult
Literate:



Marital Status:

m

Children: 

3

Occupation: 

soldier


Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:

Civil War veteran

1865, Aug.




Berea, Middleburgh Township, CUY
INQ
Class of death:   uncertain
Class of crime:   HOM
Relationship:    SPOUSE HUSBAND by WIFE
Motive:  
UNK
Intoxication?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:


Time of day:


Days until death:  


SUSPECT(s):
Mrs. Kelly
VICTIM(s):
James Kelly

Cause of death:  poison suspected.

Circumstances:   found dead at his residence near the railroad depot.  

Inquest:   i.d. 8/26/1865.  J. S. Smedley, coroner.  Verdict:  causes “unknown.”

Indictment:  


Term of court:  

Court proceedings:  

Legal records:  

Cuyahoga County inquest 486
Newspapers:
Other sources:  
Census:  
Genealogy:  

Suspect:  

___ Kelly
Ethnicity:

[Irish]
Race:


w
Gender:

f
Age:


adult
Phys char:



Literate:



Marital Status:  
m. James
Children:



Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Personal history:  


Victim:  

James Kelley
Ethnicity:

[Irish]
Race:


w
Gender:

m
Age:


adult
Phys char:



Literate:



Marital Status:  
m
Children:



Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Personal history:  


1865, August 31





Cleveland, CUY
P

INQ
Class:   certain
Crime:   HOM manslaughter

Rela:    TAVERN CUSTOMER by CUSTOMER
Motive:  [QUARREL]
Intox?:  yes, both
Day of week:
Th
Holiday?:
no


Time of day:


Days to death:  0

HOM:  Thomas Gilmartin m. John Devine


Weapon:  Thomas Gilmartin struck John Divine in the head, he later died.  [phys]

Circumstances:  drunk fight in a saloon


Inquest:  487:  i.d. 9/2/1865:  fall

Indictment:  yes, manslaughter in front of Judge Coffinberry


Term: 1/1866

Court proceedings:  fNG
Legal Records:  

Cuyahoga Co. inquest 487
Newspaper:  

Leader- Sept. 2, 1865 :4/2 – Thomas Gilmartin was charged with striking John Divine on the left side of the head, causing insensibility for ten minutes. Divine then arose and went to his home, where he died shortly after. Both men were drunk. Gilmartin is in jail.
1403 - L Jan. 4/1866:3/2 - Thomas Gilmartin, indicted on the charge of man-slaughter, was on trial before Judge Coffinberry yesterday. The defendant is accused of killing John Devine in a drunken fight in a saloon on River st. Aug. 31.

1404
L Jan. 4/1866:1/2 - Thomas Gilmartin, indicted on the charge of man-slaughter in the death of John Devine, was acquitted yesterday.

Census:  

Genealogy:

Accused: 

Thomas Gilmartin 



Ethnicity:



Race:


w
Gender:

m



Age:


adult
Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Victim: 

John Devine 



Ethnicity:



Race:


w
Gender:

m
Age:


adult
Literate:



Marital Status:



Children:



Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



1865, Nov.




[Cleveland], CUY

INQ

Class:   possible
Crime:   HOM or CAS GUN
Rela:    [NONDOM]
Motive:  UNK
Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  [0]

HOM:  m. Thomas Breyley


Weapon:  gun

Circumstances:  at the Canal boat landing near the A. & G. W. R. R. near Newburgh road.  

Inquest:  493:  i.d. 11/11/1865.  N. B. Prentiss, coroner.  Verdict:  shooting.  “by being shot with a Minnie ball, by some person unknown.”

Indictment:  


Term: 


Court proceedings:  
Legal Records:  


Cuyahoga Co. inquest 493

Newspaper:  

Census:  

Genealogy:

Accused:  

___

Ethnicity:



Race:




Gender:



Age:




Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Victim:  

Thomas Breyley

Ethnicity:



Race:


[w]
Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:



Marital Status:



Children:



Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



1866, Jan.





[Cleveland], CUY
P

CHECKED:  1/26 issue of Leader MISSING – can’t check HC / MH story or exact location
Class:   probable
Crime:  HOM
Rela:    NONDOM / probable WORK EMPLOYEE by EMPLOYER
Motive:  [QUARREL]
Intox?:  unk

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


HOM:  Henry Carwin m. Martin Haley


Weapon:  Gun


Circumstances:  fight on boat


Inquest:  

Indictment:  await grand jury


Term: 


Court proceedings:  
Legal Records:  
Newspaper:  


Cleveland Newspaper Digest

1405 - L Jan. 26:3/4 - The coroner's jury found Henry Carwin, second mate of the MANHATTAN, guilty of shooting to death Martin Haley as the out-come of a fight on the boat. Carwin was committed to await the action of the grand jury.

READ 1/23 through 1/27:  no information
Census:  

Genealogy:

Accused: 

Henry Carwin 



Ethnicity:



Race:


w
Gender:

m
Age:


adult
Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation: 

Second Mate on MANHATTAN


Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Victim: 

Martin Haley



Ethnicity:



Race:


w
Gender:

m
Age:


adult
Literate:



Marital Status:



Children:



Occupation:

[sailor]
Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



1866, Feb. 7




Rockport Township, CUY

INQ

P
Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM / SUI

Rela:    SPOUSE WIFE by HUSBAND

Motive:  UNK
Intox?:  

Day of week:
W
Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  0

HOM:  Mr. Odon m. Mrs. Odon


Weapon:  [axe]  [sharp]

Circumstances:  


Inquest:  499:  i.d. 2/8/1866, J. B. Schenck, coroner.  Verdict:  murdered.  “by the hands of Mr. Odon her husband with some sharp instrument.

500: i.d. 2/8/1866, J. B. Schenck, coroner.  Found in the so-called West Pond.  Verdict:  suicide.  “by drowning committing suicide as a sequel to the murder of his wife of which he was guilty.”

Indictment:  


Term: 


Court proceedings:  
Legal Records:  


Cuyahoga Co. inquests 499 and 500

Newspaper:  


Cleveland Leader 2/8/1866: 

CL 2/9/1866: 4/3:  Peter Oben or Oden, “a marketman who comes to this city regularly once or twice a week with produce.”  Industrious, German, age 60.  “split open the head of his wife.”  Cut a hole in the ice & drowned himself.
Census:  

Genealogy:

Accused:  

Mr. Peter Odon

Ethnicity:

German
Race:


w
Gender:

m

Age:


60
Literate:



Marital Status:  
m

Children:



Occupation:

marketman / produce seller
Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Victim:  

Mrs. Odon

Ethnicity:

[German]
Race:


[w]

Gender:

f

Age:


adult

Literate:



Marital Status:

m

Children:



Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



1866, Feb. 4





Cleveland, CUY
P

Class:   probable
Crime:   HOM
Rela:    TAVERN CUSTOMER by CUSTOMER
Motive:  QUARREL
Intox?:    victim and assailant
Day of week:
Sun
Holiday?:
no
Time of day:
morning
Days to death:  2

HOM:  “Stone House Jock” m. McCune


Weapon:  revolver.  d. 2/6 in hospital.  .”  “The ball . . . had lodged in the spinal column.  Complete paralysis of the system, below the shoulders, had been produced.  

Circumstances:  Shot in the “Break-of-Day Saloon,” 200 Ontario St.

Inquest:  


Indictment:  


Term: 


Court proceedings:  
Legal Records:  

Newspaper:  

Cleveland Newspaper Digest

L 2/6/1866 (3:2):  shot early Sunday morning in saloon kept by Briggs, “the hole that has gained great notoriety as ‘Allen’s Day-Break Saloon.’”  SJH has the “odor of the penitentiary.”  M & SJH & friends went into the saloon together, partially drunk, & asked for whiskey.  SJH called McC “a liar,” whereupon McC pulled his revolver & presented it.  SJH jumped at McC “and turned his hands” so when the gun went off the ball hit McC in the jaw & lodged near the spinal column.  SHJ “did not make an effort to escape, but rendered active service in making the man comfortable.”  SJH arrested & given a choice of 30 days in work house or leaving town.  “He will probably ‘light out.’”

1407 - L Feb. 8:4/3 - McCune, the Rochester, N. Y., “rough” who was shot by "Stone House Jock" in the "Break-of-Day Saloon," 200 Ontario St., on Sunday morning last, died at the Perry St. hospital Feb. 6 (T night).  Shot “in a drunken encounter.”  “The ball . . . had lodged in the spinal column.  Complete paralysis of the system, below the shoulders, had been produced.  The friends of McCune at Rochester were telegraphed, Sunday night, but no response has yet been received from them.”
Census:  

Genealogy:

Accused:  

“Stone House Jock”



Ethnicity:



Race:


w
Gender:

m



Age:


adult
Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation:



Town:


Buffalo, NY
Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Victim: 

___ McCune 



Ethnicity:

[Irish]
Race:


w
Gender:

m
Age:


adult
Literate:



Marital Status:



Children:



Occupation:



Town:


Rochester, NY
Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:


1866, Mar. 24




Olmsted Falls, CUY
P

INQ
Class:   certain
Crime:   HOM
Rela:     NONDOM
Motive:  THEFT / confronted by victim for stealing her husband’s clothes

Intox?:  unk

Day of week:
Sat
Holiday?:
no


Time of day:


Days to death:  0

HOM:  Alexander McConnell m. Rose (Mrs. William) Colvin


Weapon:  axe


Circumstances:  Mysteriously murdered. Body found in a wood pile at cabin, blood found inside.  They were holding her husband and friend in suspicion of the murder until new evidence was found.  

Inquest:  505:  i.d. 3/25/1866:  murdered

Indictment:  murder

Term: 


Court proceedings:  Guilty of murder in the first degree and was hanged.
Legal Records:  

Cuyahoga Co. inquest 505
Newspaper:  

Cleveland Newspaper Digest

1408 - L Mar. 27:4/3 - Mrs. William Colvin of Olmsted Falls was mysteriously murdered Mar. 24. William Colvin, her husband, and Joseph Miller were arrested and charged with the crime. They will be heard today before the justice G. M. Barber, Esq. of the peace of Olmstead Falls.  [CHECK] this city will appear for the prisoners.
Marshal Schmitt, also of this city, will visit the scene of the murder to make an investigation.

1409 - L Mar. 28:4/3-5 - The murdered body of Mrs. Colvin was found in a wood pile. At the inquest which followed, Coroner Kendall stated that she had been murdered with an axe. Her husband and Joseph Miller are being held while the search continues for a Mr. McConnell, a boarder at Colvin's home. A $75 reward is offered for his capture. Colvin and Mi1ler pleaded not guilty before Justice O. W. Kendall.Robert Crawford was called to give his testimony. He stated that his brother and he had entered Colvin's cabin and found Colvin and Miller there. Colvin told him that Mrs. Colvin had run away with McConnell. After discovering the blood in the cabin, he accused Colvin of murder and obtained help to hold him until authorities arrived to arrest him. Crawford also said that Colvin and his wife fought often.

The testimony of James Crawford was the same as that of his brother. C. L. Underhill testified that he had been at the cabin and with the Crawford brothers had helped hold the prisoners.

Mary Egler testified that she had seen McConnell with Mrs. Colvin Mar. 25.

  
Who murdered Mrs. Colvin is still a mystery

1410 - L Mar. 29:4/3-5 - The investigation into the murder of Mrs. William Colvin was brought before Justice O. W. Kendall yesterday morning. The suspicion that McConnell was hiding in the home of McCarty proved false. He is still missing.
William Colvin told his story, and he believes McConnell is the guilty party. He says that the motive for the crime was that Mrs. Colvin had about $150 in an old trunk. Joseph Miller says nothing and endeavors to keep Colvin still.

   Luther Barnum was called to give his testimony. He discovered the body in the wood pile and said he hardly thought a person could occupy a cabin such as Colvin's was, with blood and all signs of a struggle, without knowing something was wrong.

   Bradley, Litchfield, and Fitch all testified Colvin and his wife did not get along well and that Colvin often beat her.

   Dr. C. W. Northrop, called before coroner's jury after examining the body, said Mrs. Colvin might have lived if the blow struck by an axe had cot fractured her skull. Miller and Colvin were held in jail by Justice Kendall on the evidence submitted until the May term of the court of common pleas.
(55)

1411 - L Apr. 4:4/4 - McConnell, the suspected murderer of Mrs. Colvin, vas captured at Ottawa, Canada by John Dell, a detective engaged by Sheriff Nicola. When William Colvin heard this news, he attempted to give expression to his feelings in words, but failed. Joseph Miller, suspected with Colvin of the murder, was not visibly affected. Sheriff Nicola will go to Canada, taking Colvin with him as a witness as soon as arrangements can be made.

1412 -- L Apr. 9:3/2 - M. S. Castle, Esq., prosecuting attorney, put the finishing touches on a document to be sent to the Hon. R. P. Spaulding for the extradition of Alexander McConnell, suspected murderer of Mrs. Rose Colvin, who was captured in Canada.

1413 - L Apr. 13:4/3 - The following is from the Ottawa TIMES and concerns the arrest of Alexander McConnell, suspected murderer of Mrs. Colvin: Detective O'Dell and Constable Davis arrested McConnell at his residence in Fitzroy after a search disclosed he was hiding in the attic above the kitchen. He was jailed at Ottawa and charged with murder. (8)

1414 - L Apr. 14:4/3,4 - The Ottawa TIMES contains a full report of the seconds day's examination in the extradition proceedings in the case of Alexander Mc Connell, suspected murderer of Mrs. Colvin. We give the most important parts of the testimony.

    The first witness was Detective O'Neil of Fitzroy. He testified that he and Detective O'Dell went to the McConnell home at Fitzroy and arrested him on the charge of first degree murder. McConnell was wearing a pair of trousers, which he admitted belonged to William Colvin, The trousers bore stains that looked like blood, and were given to Dr. John Sweetland for examination. Dr. Sweetland was the next witness and testified that he had examined the trousers and found blood on them. He was not sure, however. whether or not it was human blood. The next witness was Robert Crawford of Cuyahoga County. He testified that he was present when the body of Mrs. Colvin was found. Two other residents of Cuyahoga County, living in the immediate neighborhood of the Colvin home, testified that they saw McConnell together with Mrs. Colvin, on the road from Berea to the Colvin home, on the evening of the murder. These witnesses were: Mary Eglar, and William Busby.


1415 - L Apr. 19:4/4,5 - The Ottawa TIMES contains the testimony in the Colvin murder case. The final hearing of the case in Canada was before Chief Magistrate Lees. After the testimony was read, Lees released Alexander McConnell to Detective O'Dell for extradition to the United States.


1416 -L Apr. 24:4/2 - A re-examination of William Colvin and Joseph Miller yesterday resulted in their release. The testimony in the Mc-Connell case proved their innocence

1417 - L Apr. 26:4/2 - Sheriff Nicol received a telegram from Detective O'Dell asking him to proceed to Ottawa, Canada, immediately, as authorities would not turn over Alexander McConnell to any one dut the sherriff. (1

1418 - L Apr. 27:5/2 - Our report of Sheriff Nicola's departure for Canada proves to be without foundation. The message was interpreted

wrong and Detective O'Dell will arrive with Alexander McConnell tonight.(3)

1419 - I. Apr. 30:3/2 - Alexander McConnell, suspected murderer of Rose Colvin, has arrived from Canada with Detective O'Dell. He has a letter from the Rev. J. Alexander Morris saying that McConnell's character at home has always been good.


1420 - L June 25:3/2,3
The trial of Alexander McConnell was resumed on June 23. He is charged with the murder of Rose Colvin at Olmstead Falls, O. A full report of the circumstances connected with the murder and of the arrests of William Colvin and Joseph Miller, suspected of the ma-der, their release, and of the arrest of McConnell at Ottawa, Canada, was given at that time.

  McConnell is a native of the north of Ireland. He immigrated to America in 1847. He is married, and his wife and children reside at Fitzroy, near Ottawa, Canada, where he was arrested.

Marshal S. Castle, Esq., is the prosecuting attorney and A. T. Serde,

Esq., is the attorney for the defense.


1421 - L June 29:4/4,5 -- The state has concluded its arguments in the Colvin murder trial. Judge Foote directed the jury to bring a verdict

of guilty in the first degree.


1422 - h June 30:3/2 - After a night of deliberation, the jury in the Colvin murder case brought in a verdict of guilty of murder in the first degree against Alexander McConnell. Not the slightest emotion was visible when the prisoner heard the report. A motion for a new trial is being discussed. Sentence has not yet been passed.

1423 - L July 2:3/2 - Judge Foote overruled the motion for a new trial or Alexander McConnell, convicted of murder of Rose Colvin. He passed the sentence of hanging, which will take place on Aug. 10. The prisoner received the verdict and the sentence in the same stolid manner he has shown all through the trial.

1424 - L July 11:4/3 - By invitation of Sheriff Nicola we were present in the County Jail yesterday to hear the confession of Alexander McConnell, who was recently convicted of the murder of Rose Colvin. Mc-Connell shows signs of a deep heart-felt contrition and often choked with emotion while making the statement.

     McConnell stated that he is married and that his home is in Fitzroy, Canada. He is a farmer, and came to Berea to work and earn money to pay a debt which he owed in his home town. He revealed that on the day of the murder he stole some of William Colvin's clothes and started for thee railroad, intending to go to Elyria. On the way he met Mrs. Colvin.  He told her he was taking the clothes to her husband, whom he said, intended to go to Cleveland. Mrs. Colvin declared that she would go with him to meet her husband. McConnell then suggested that they return to the Colvin cabin, and that Colvin would probably return there. Upon arrival at the cabin Mrs. Colvin declared that she did not believe he had been on the way to meet her husband, and accused him of attempting to steal the clothes. McConnell admitted this and told her that he would leave. She refused to permit him to do so, insisted that he remain until Colvin returned, and placed herself before the door with a poker in her hand. McConnell attempted to get out and she struck him with the poker whereupon he knocked her down with his fist. She arose and beat him with the poker; he then seized an axe and struck her over the head, killing her instantly. He then concealed the body beneath a wood pile at the side of the cabin, and fled.

    McConnell expresses no hope of reprieve, and begged that his confession might not be published till after his death, but on being told that it might benefit his cause, he consented.

 1425 - L July 14; ed:3/2 - "The HERALD thinks that the sentence of McConnell, murderer of Rose Colvin, should be commuted because the crime was not premeditated. Does it require 15 minutes to do an unpremeditated act? There may appear to be some excuse when a man in sudden passion takes the life of a fellow man but of a woman never. According to his own confession, he first knocked her down with his fist. Why did he not then escape? After 15 minutes, according to his own computation, he seized an ax and gave the final blow. Far be it from us to prejudice the public against anyone, but we heard the testimony, watched the prisoner, and cannot come to any conclusion save that the jury's verdict was righteous and the sentence just."

1426 - L July 17:4/2 - Alexander McConnell, the convicted murderer of Rose Colvin, states that the published confession was not quite correct. He will yet tell the whole matter and make a clean breast of it."
1429 - L July 23:4/4 - Alexander McConnell, convicted for the murder of Rose Colvin, still asserts the first confession to be correct.

1430 - L July 24:3/2 - A petition is being circulated asking Governor Cox to commute the sentence of Alexander McConnell, murderer of Rose Colvin, to life imprisonment.

1431 - L July 27:3/2 - Sheriff Nicola frustrated an attempt by Alexander McConnell, murderer of Rose Colvin, who is awaiting execution, and others to break jail.

   Some clays ago Sheriff Nicola received information from one of the prisoners that McConnell had made ugly threats of vengeance against him, who, he claimed, was the cause of all his troubles. Mr. Nicola paid little attention to the threats but nevertheless was on his guard. When he was convinced a jail break was threatened he locked the prisoners in their respective cells and made a minute investigation of the jail. A range of condemned cells was the place prisoners contemplated for the break. Among the tools found in these cells was a large knife fashioned like a saw. A special guard has been stationed in the jail to prevent or frustrate any future attempts at an untimely jail delivery.


1433 - L July 28:4/2 - Alexander McConnell, sentenced to die in two weeks for the murder of Rose Colvin, is taciturn and despondent. The petition in circulation for a commutation of his sentence is receiving very few influential names.

1434 - L July 30:4/2 - McConnell's peculiar actions have caused the sheriff to place an extra guard over him, for fear he might attempt suicide. McConnell is to die in August for the murder of Rose Colvin.

1435 - L July 31:4/3 - McConnell, sentenced to die for the murder of Rose Colvin, assures the sheriff that he had no intentions of escaping when he, with others, attempted to break jail. He says he was lonesome and, hearing voices in the women's prison overhead, was looking for company.

1436 •- L Aug. 2:3/2 - A clergyman in Canada has written to some of the clergy here asking that every exertion be made to have McConnell's sentence commuted. He states that he knows McConnell, who is to die this month for murder, to be morbidly insane when excited by passion.

1437 - L Aug. 3:3/2 - The Rev. J. H. Rylance of St. Paul's church, this city, will leave for Columbus to lay before Governor Cox the application for the commutation of the sentence of Alexander McConnell, convicted murderer.

1438 - L Aug. 6:4/3 - Reverend Rylance, the pastor of St. Paul's church of this city, returned from Columbus whither he went with a petition to Governor Cox asking for a commutation of McConnell's sentence from hanging to life imprisonment. lle expects to receive the governor's decision today. McConnell is sentenced to hang for murder.

1439 - L Aug. 8:2/1 - Governor Cox has refused to commute the sentence of Alexander McConnell, found guilty in a fair trial of the murder of Rose Colvin. His action is just and necessary. The murder was brutal and disgusting and prompted by the desire for unlawful gain. That Mc-Connell deserves the fate which the law allows him there can be no doubt, and to commute his sentence would be to set a dangerous and de-moralizing precedent for people to refer to in the future.

1440 - L Aug. 8:3/2 - Governor Cox decided not to interfere with the course of the law and Alexander McConnell will, in accordance with the sentence of the court, be hung on Aug. 10. In a letter to Reverend Rylance, the governor says that if the confession of the prisoner who admits only so much as has been plainly proven and denies only the conclusion that the act was premeditated could be allowed to have weight

in determining the grade of offense, it must be manifest that every conviction would probably be followed by a similar confession and the law would become practically a dead letter.

1441 - L Aug. 9:4/2 - The erection of the scaffold for the execution of Mr. McConnell, murderer of Rose Colvin, was begun yesterday. It will

be in the northeast corner of the jail, where Dr. Hughes was hung.
(1)

1442 - L Aug. 10:3/2 - The clerk of common pleas court yesterday made out a warrant for the execution of Alexander McConnell for the murder of Mrs. Rose Colvin.

1443 - L Aug. 10:4/3 - Alexander McConnell, murderer of Mrs. Rose Colvin, will suffer the extreme penalty of the law today. Whatever may be the views and opinions of each individual with reference to capital punishment, there can be but one opinion as to the guilt of the prisoner, for he has confessed. The sheriff has issued a limited number of tickets of admission to the jail, for the execution is to be within the jail. Nevertheless, we presume there will be the usual crowd of curious ones, vainly endeavoring to catch a glimpse of the condemned man.

 1444 - L Aug. 11:3/2,6 - Mrs. Rose Colvin, who resided four miles west of Olmstead Falls, was murdered Mar. 25. William Colvin, husband of the victim, did not live in harmony with his wife. About three weeks prior to the murder, a man named Alexander McConnell came to board with Mr. and Mrs. Colvin, and a man named Crawford came to chop wood for them. On Mar. 24 Colvin and McConnell started for Berea in search of employment. About one mile from Colvin's house, McConnell decided to turn back. Colvin went on, returned intoxicated, and went to bed. The next morning Robert Crawford entered Colvin's house and saw blood on the floors and walls. Colvin exclaimed he hadn't seen it before. Colvin was arrested, suspected of murdering his wife and Alexander Mc-Connell. A search was made for both bodies, and at last the body of Rose Colvin was discovered under a wood pile, horribly mutilated. Indignation was expressed against Colvin, who, when taken before a justice of the peace, replied "not guilty" to his questioning.

    Everything now depended upon finding McConnell alive. Sheriff Nicola of Cleveland became convinced that Alexander McConnell was the murderer. By accident the place of his residence became known, and a shrewd detective succeeded in arresting him in Fitzroy, Canada. In his possession was found Colvin's boots, overcoat, pants, and about $150. His manner when he was arrested left no doubt about his guilt. When informed of McConnell's arrest, Colvin burst into tears of joy.

    Alexander McConnell's trial was started June 24 and it lasted four days. The verdict was guilty of murder in the first degree. A motion for a new trial was overruled and Judge Foote sentenced him to "hang by the neck until dead."

McConnell confessed his guilt a week later. He told a fellow prisoner that he would die game, but before he died he would put a knife into Sheriff Nicola. Two weeks before his execution he attempted to break jail, but was frustrated. The Reverend Rylance attempted in vain to have his sentence commuted.
-

McConnell seemed resigned and his thoughts were with his children.

  The gallows were erected in a most secluded spot within the walls of the jail. At ten o'clock McConnell stood at the door of his cell, eyes swollen and bloodshot, and showing evidence of much weeping. Colvin asked to see the prisoner. McConnell reached out his hand to Colvin and said, "William, forgive me." Colvin replied, "If God for-gives you, I will forgive you," but he would not shake hands. Alexander McConnell burst into tears and knelt by his cot to pray. Sheriff Nicola then remonstrated with Colvin. McConnell again asked forgiveness and Colvin said, "Yes, I forgive you, as I myself hope some day to be forgiven," and shook McConnell's hand, said goodbye, and wished him the favor of heaven. McConnell then said, "I am ready to go - the sentence is just."

  At 12 noon he was taken to the gallows and the noose was adjusted. The sheriff stepped back to spring the drop, when McConnell turned his head, throwing the knot under his chin. The movement of his head before the drop, not observed in time to prevent it, prevented his neck from being broken. Fourteen minutes after the fall he was pronounced dead.

Unfortunate in life - guilty -- repentant - let him rest.

1445 - L Aug. 11:4/3 - In Alexander McConnell's last letter to his wife he says, "I have wondered why you have not written to me often, for you must know the anxiety I have for our little ones, although I have proven an unfaithful parent to them. Do not let them grow up in ignorance, as I did. I beg you to give them the knowledge of the Bible."

    He also asked his sister to pray for him. It is believed these letters were the last communications he ever made to his family.

1446 - L Aug. 13:3/2 - Subscription lists are being circulated for aid for McConnell's family in Canada. They are in destitute circumstances. It is proposed to raise $1,000.

Census:  

Genealogy:

Accused:  

Alexander McConnell

Ethnicity: 

Irish



Race:


w
Gender:

m



Age:


adult
Literate:



Marital Status:  
married

Children: 

yes



Occupation:

farmer
/ farm laborer
Town:


Berea / transient – working off a debt
Birthplace: 

Fitzroy, Canada



Religion:



Organizations:



Victim: 

Mrs. William Colven 



Ethnicity:



Race:


w
Gender:

f
Age:


adult
Literate:



Marital Status:

m. William


Children:



Occupation:

farm wife
Town:


Olmsted Falls
Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:


1866, Aug. 28 or 29





Dover Twp., CUY

P

NOTE:  can’t find confirmation in the newspaper – and no inquest found either.  But the story is detailed and credible & from a respected source.  How to classify?  Possible or uncertain?
Class:    possible
Crime:   HOM

Rela:    [NONDOM]

Motive:  [ROBBERY]
Intox?:  

Day of week:
T or W
Holiday?:
no


Time of day:
night time – late PM or early AM
Days to death:  0

HOM:  unknown person m. Mr. McCartney


Weapon:  gunshot to head.

Circumstances:  Found dead in his home, which had been robbed.  No arrests made.


Inquest:  


Indictment:  


Term: 


Court proceedings:  
Legal Records:  

Newspaper:  


Cleveland Newspaper Digest

1447 - L Aug. 30:4/3 - A Mr. McCartney, Dover township, was found murdered last evening. McCartney had recently sold his farm and was thought to have had a large sum of money in his possession. No arrests have been made.
“REPORTED MURDER IN DOVER. House Robbed and the Owner Murdered for His Money – The Perpetrator Still at Large and Unknown.  A gentleman just from Dover township, last evening, informed us that there was intense excitement in that place yesterday, caused by the discovery of a murder which had been committed in the evening previous, or some time during the night.  The name of the man who is reported to have been murdered is McCartney.  He lived in Dover township, about twelve miles from this city, on the Elyria road.  Mr. McCartney had recently sold his farm, and was thought to have had a large sum of money in his possession.  The house was robbed and he was found shot through the head, with the appearance of having been dead some hours.  No arrests have been made and suspicion seemed to fasten on no one.  The wildest excitement and consternation prevailed.  We made diligent inquiry at the Police Station, but up to midnight no information had been laid before the department.”
Nothing in 8/31/1866 issue.
L 9/1/1866: 4/2:  “NOT CONFIRMED – The report of a murder at Dover a few nights ago is not confirmed – at least no such information has been given to the Police.”

Nothing in 9/3 - 5/1866 issues
Census:  

Genealogy:

Accused:  

___



Ethnicity:



Race:




Gender:



Age:


[adult]
Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Victim: 

Mr. McCartney 



Ethnicity:

[Irish]
Race:


w
Gender:

m
Age:


adult
Literate:



Marital Status:



Children:



Occupation:

farmer
Town:


Dover Township



Birthplace:



Religion:


1866, Oct. 3





Brooklyn, CUY

P

INQ
Class:   certain
Crime:   HOM
Rela:    SPOUSE WIFE by HUSBAND
Motive: ABUSE
Intox?:  yes, assailant
Day of week:
W
Holiday?:



Time of day:
night
Days to death:  0

HOM:  John H. Vordenfelder m. Clara Felder (his wife)

Weapon:  Beaten to death.  Dead by the next morning, but probably died shortly after the assault.

Circumstances: Husband beat wife to death. 


Inquest:  517:  Clara Felder  i.d. 10/5/1866:  murdered

Indictment:  


Term: 


Court proceedings:  preliminary examination found that death was by violence inflicted by her husband.
Legal Records:  

Cuyahoga Co. inquest 517
Newspaper:  


Cleveland Newspaper Digest

1449 - L Oct. 8:4/3,4 - Another deed of blood has been added to the criminal record of Cuyahoga county. John H. Vordenfelder of Vega Ave., Brooklyn, came home drunk, beat his wife to death.  Fell unconscious at his feet & found death the next day.  Vordenfelder is about 60 years old, and his wife was about the same age. There are two children, the older is eight and the younger an infant of ten months. An examination of Vordenfelder will be had today before Judge Abbey upon the charge of murder in the second degree.

The coroner's jury returned a verdict that the deceased came to her death by "violence inflicted on her person by her husband, John Vordenfelder." The husband manifests little feeling and no remorse at the dreadful occurrence. The children have been taken in charge by neighbors until they can he placed.

1450 - L Oct. 9:4/2 - John Vordenfelder, accused of wife murder, was arraigned at police court yesterday on charge of murder in the second degree. His counsel, J. W. Heisley, Esq., and A. T. Brinsmade, Esq., waived examination, and he was bound' over to common pleas court in the sum of $2,000, in default of which he was remanded.

Census:  

Genealogy:

Accused:  

John H. Verdenfelder



Ethnicity:

[German]
Race:


w
Gender:

m



Age:


60




Literate:



Marital Status:

m. Clara Felder 


Children:

yes
Occupation:



Town:


Brooklyn
Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Victim: 

Mrs. Rosa Verdenfelder
Ethnicity:

[German]
Race:


w
Gender:

f
Age:


60
Literate:



Marital Status:

m. John H.


Children:

yes
Occupation:



Town:


Brooklyn
Birthplace:



Religion:


1866, Nov. 2





Mayfield, CUY

P

Class:   certain
Crime:   HOM
Rela:    RELATIVE FATHER by SON
Motive:  QUARREL / disagreement

Intox?:  

Day of week:
F
Holiday?:
no


Time of day:


Days to death:  0

HOM:  Isaac Carpenter m. Ezra Carpenter (his father)

Weapon:  [blunt]  Threw at stone at EC “with all his force, striking his father just above the left ear, felling him instantly.”

Circumstances:  His father told him to stop beating the horse, so he got mad and struck his father behind the ear killing him.


Inquest:  


Indictment:  murder

Term: 


Court proceedings:  12/1866t:  pG to mansl.  10 yrs.
Legal Records:  

Newspaper:  


Cleveland Newspaper Digest

1456 - L Nov. 22:4/3,4 - Isaac Carpenter, 26, was arrested Nov. 17 by Constable William Nevil and his assistants, Officers Hale, Knapp, and Mapes, on a charge of murdering his father, Ezra.  Isaac served three years in the 103rd Ohio and was mustered out in June, 1865 with a good record.

Nov. 2, according to the report, Isaac was beating a horse and was commanded by his father to stop. Isaac is accused of striking his father behind the left ear and thus killing him.  Mary, Ezra's wife, says she promised to conceal the crime if Isaac would leave the country.  He did not do so, and on Nov. 16 she had Justice of the Peace, A. B. Akins, Esq., issue a warrant.

1457 - L Dec. 6:3/1 - Isaac Carpenter, the alleged perpetrator of the hayfield homicide, will be put on trial today.

1458 - L Dec. 7:4/3 - The last scene in the fearful case of Isaac Carpenter, who murdered his father, was enacted yesterday. Carpenter withdrew his plea of not guilty and entered a plea of guilty of manslaughter. This was accepted by the state and no trial was held. He has been sentenced to the penitentiary for ten years, and will have ample time to repent his rash passion.

Census:  

Genealogy:

Accused: 

 Isaac Carpenter



Ethnicity:



Race:


w
Gender:

m



Age:


26



Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:

Civil War veteran
Victim:  

Ezra Carpenter



Ethnicity:



Race:


w
Gender:

m
Age:


adult
Literate:



Marital Status:

m. Mary
Children:

at least 1 grown son
Occupation:



Town:


Mayfield
Birthplace:

“old resident”
Religion:

Organizations:



1867, [Feb.]





Cleveland, CUY

P

INQ

DATE:  confused.  It was probably a year before the inquest.  Newspaper reports conflict.

Class:   certain
Crime:  HOM

Rela:     HOM BROTHER by SISTER  

Motive: INSURANCE MONEY

Intox?:  no

Day of week:
T
Holiday?:
no


Time of day:


Days to death:  [0]


HOM:  Sarah Maria Victor m. William Parquette


Weapon:  arsenic


Circumstances: SARAH MARIA VICTOR POISONED HER BROTHER WITH ARSENIC IN ORDER TO OBTAIN A LIFE INSURANCE POLICY  


Inquest:  i.d. 2/5/1868.  J. C. Schenck, coroner.  Verdict:  poison.  Inquest held at Woodland Cemetery.  “from the effects of Arsenical poison administered as we believe by Mrs. Sarah Maria Victor.”

Indictment:  yes, M-1 


Term:  6/1868

Court proceedings: fG M-1.  COURT CASE OPENED ON JUNE 10 –  39 WITNESSES TESTIFIED FOR THE STATE.  SHE WAS FOUND GUILTY BY A JURY OF 12 OF HER PEERS.  THE DEFENSE COUNCIL ENTERED A MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL.
Legal Records: 


Cuyahoga County Inquest


#541  Parquette  Wm.                2 5    1868 poison              


Much testimony – do later.

 Newspaper:  

1663 - L Feb. 6; ed:4/3 - Mrs. Sarah Maria Victor, 30, yesterday was ar​rested by Deputy Sheriff Ridgeway and charged with the appalling crime of murdering her own brother, William Parquette, one year ago.  The body of Parquette was exhumed from its grave, and Coroner J. C. Schenck examined the corpse.  He found large quantities of arsenic in the stomach.  While it is evident that a murder was committed, it is a matter of great doubt whether the perpetrator of the foul crime will ever be known.

1664 - L Feb. 7:4/3-5 - Mrs. Sarah Maria Victor is kept in close confinement, no person being permitted to see her without the express permission of the sheriff.  At the inquest L. W. Sapp, Ann M. Morehouse, Oscar Welch, and Mrs. E. Gray, the accusers, were put upon the stand to give their view of the case.

Her preliminary examination upon the charge of murder will commence before Justice George A. Kolbe on Feb. 8, at nine o'clock.  We shall make no comment upon the case at present, but only give the facts to our readers as they are developed, leaving them to draw their own conclusions.  The evidence is, at all events, only circumstantial.
We learn that a short time ago she wrote a letter to her daughter, stat​ing to her the suspicions which were entertained against her, and saying, "God knows that I am innocent!" That the young man came to his death through foul play there seems little room for doubt, but through whose agency is enshrouded in the deepest mystery.                                                                            


1665 - L Feb. 8:4/3 - The investigation of the coroner's inquiry in the William Parquette poisoning case was resumed yesterday. Parquette died on Feb. 4, 1868 mysteriously.  His sister Sarah M. Parquette, alias Victor, is being held in jail and will have a preliminary trial upon the charge of murder this morning.  John L. who examined the organs of the deceased stated at the inquest that they contained enough arsenic to cause death.  If  Mrs. Victor is indicted this morning before Justice George A. Kolbe, her trial will take place in the common pleas court in a few weeks.
1666 - L Feb. 10:4/4 - The case of Mrs. Sarah Maria Victor will go to grand jury today or tomorrow.  If she is indicted the trial will follow in the near future.

1667 - L May 12:4/2 - Mrs. Sarah Maria Victor, arrested on Feb. 5 and now awaiting trial for the alleged murder of her brother, is ill with typhoid fever.

1675 - L June 10:1/9 - The trial of Mrs. Sarah Maria Victor, whose case has been creating a sensation, will begin today in common pleas court.

1676 - L June 11:4/3,4 - Yesterday morning the case of Mrs. Sarah Maria Victor, indicted for murder in the first degree, was called in the court of common pleas before Judge Horace Foote.  The case appears to be as follows: Mrs. Victor is charged with causing the death of her brother, William Parquette, by poison for pecuniary reasons.  Mrs. Victor induced him to obtain an insurance policy of $2,300 on his life, payable to her, and on Jan. 26, 1867 he died of arsenic poisoning. The counsel on behalf of the state are J. W. Jones, prosecuting attorney, and H.B. DeWolf, assistant.  Counsel for the defendant are M.S. Castle, R.P. Ranney, C.W. Palmer, and J.W. Coffinberry. The jury has been impaneled, and 39 witnesses will testify for the state.

1677 - L June 12:4/3,4 - The trial of Mrs. Victor was resumed yesterday.  Among the witnesses who testified for the state were Deputy Sheriff George Ridgeway, Coroner J. C. Schenck, Dr. Procter Thayer, Prof. J. L. Cassels, and Miss Anna Miller.  Mrs. Victor was intensely interested in Miss Miller's testimony, and seemed to hope that facts favorable to her cause would be elicited there from.  Drs. Thayer and Cassels testified that the death of Parquette was caus​ed by the administration of small amounts of arsenic over a period of time.  After Attorney Turner's testimony, the court adjourned until tomorrow.  Turner was present at the inquest.

1678 - L June 18:4/2 - Benjamin Weaver, who has taken rooms in the Empire building, has been reporting Mrs. Victor's trial for the counsel.  During the years of 1866 and 1867, he was the stenographer to the supreme court of the state of New York.

1679 - L June 24:1/2-4 - Mrs. Victor, who is on trial for the murder of her brother, William Parquette, was born about 35 years ago on the west side, which was called Ohio City at that time.  In 1836, at the age of eight, she was adopted by Mr. and Mrs. M. Wemple of Collamer, who had no children.  The girl was dissatisfied with her new home, and after three years returned to her parents.  Soon thereafter she ran away from home, and secured a place as a maid in a boarding house.  At the age of 16 she went to Chicago where she married a Mr. Smith and returned to Cleveland. After a few years of married life, she obtained a divorce and assumed the name of Mrs. Victor.  In 1860, Mrs. Victor joined the Euclid St. Presbyterian church, and became an active member in the church and Sunday school.  Two years ago, her brother returned home from the army to make his home with her, and recently died of poison administered by Mrs. Victor.  Yesterday a jury of 12 men in common pleas court found her guilty of the crime.  Sentence has not yet been passed, and Mr. Castle, attorney for the defendant, has entered a motion for a new trial.

1680 - L June 24:1/3,4 - Of the early life of William Parquette, the brother of Mrs. Victor, little is known except that he was born in Cleveland in 1840.  He ran away from home when he was quite young, and enlisted in the army in 1862, where he served three years.  He was honorably discharged on Aug. 19, 1865, and returned to Cleveland to live with his sister. In the meantime, he insured his life for $2,300.  He died suddenly afterward and arsenic was found in his stomach.  Mrs. Victor was arrested, and after a trial, was convicted of intentionally poisoning him.
Census:  

Genealogy:

Accused:  

Sarah Maria Paquette [aka Victor]



Ethnicity:

[French]

Race:


w

Gender: 

f


Age: 


35
[or 30]




Literate:



Marital Status: 
divorced 


Children: 

at least 1 daughter



Occupation:



Town: 


Cleveland

Birthplace: 

WEST SIDE OF CLEVELAND (OHIO CITY)



Religion: 

EUCLID ST. PRESBYTERIAN CHURCH



Organizations:



Victim:  

William Parquette

Ethnicity:

[French]

Race:


w

Gender: 

m

Age: 


28




Literate:



Marital Status:

s


Children: 

n

Occupation:



Town: 


CLEVELAND




Birthplace: 

CLEVELAND



Religion:



Organizations:

PREVIOUSLY IN THE U.S. ARMY

1867, Apr. 22




Cleveland, CUY

P

INQ


NOTE:  if a homicide, non-domestic

Class:   uncertain
Crime:   probable HOM / possible SUI
Rela:    [NONDOM]
Motive:  

Intox?:  

Day of week:
M
Holiday?:
no


Time of day:


Days to death: 0 


HOM:  unknown person(s) suspected of m. Isadore Ailringer


Weapon:  revolver, 3 shots


Circumstances:  on the Grocery Corner of Perry & Gardner streets.  

Inquest:  527:  i.d. 4/23/1867.  [Isadore Eibeinger]  J. B. Schenck, coroner.  Verdict:  shooting.  “by reason of wounds caused by shots from a pistol in the hands of some person unknown.”

Indictment:  


Term: 


Court proceedings:  reward offered.  [fled]
Legal Records:  


Cuyahoga Co. inquest 527

Newspaper:  

4436:  Cleveland Leader:  4/23/1867:  4/3:  Isadore Ailringer, a merchant at the corner of Perry and Garden sts., was found dead in his place of business yesterday morning.  A coroner’s examination was made and three bullet wounds were discovered.  Four shots had been fired from the gun found near the body.  No money is missing.  Ailringer’s poor health of recent weeks leads to the suspicion of suicide.  The victim was 28 years old.  The widow and two children survive.

4437:  Cleveland Leader:  4/29/1867:  4/2:  A reward has been offered for the arrest of the murderer of Isadore Ailringer, who was found dead on the morning of Apr. 22, although the general opinion seems to be that this was a case of suicide.
Census:  

Genealogy:

Accused:  

___

Ethnicity:



Race:




Gender:



Age:




Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Victim:  

Isadore Ailringer

Ethnicity:

German

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


28

Literate:



Marital Status:

m

Children:

2 children

Occupation:

a merchant at the corner of Perry and Garden sts.

Town:


Cleveland

Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



1867, June 20




Cleveland, CUY

P

INQ

DATE:  newspaper says 6/21 at one point, but probably 6/20

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    TAVERN CUSTOMER by CUSTOMER
Motive:  UNK
Intox?:  

Day of week:
Th
Holiday?:
no


Time of day:
night

Days to death:  0


HOM:  Thomas Tuft [or Tuff] m. Charles Alex Sidley


Weapon:  knife – stabbed 3 times.  Severed artery in thigh.  d. in a few minutes.


Circumstances:  on Michigan St. in front of a saloon.
Inquest:  529  Sidley  Charles                        6/21/1867.  J. C. Schenck, coroner.  Verdict:  knife wound.  Found on Michigan St. between Seneca and Ontario streets.  “by a wound inflicted with a knife in the hands of Thomas Tuft or Tuff, severing the artery of the thigh.”

Indictment:  


Term: 


Court proceedings:  
Legal Records:  


Cuyahoga Co. inquest 529

Newspaper:  

1564 - L June 21:3/4 - The murder of Charles Alex Sidley on Michigan St. last night by three Negroes occurred in front of the saloon of Orbitz and Simmons. A policeman was dispatched, who called a physician.

   The man had been stabbed three times and died a few minutes after reaching his residence. Sidley was about 28 years of age and a painter by trade.

1565 - L June 22:4/3 - In yesterday's paper was an account of the fatal stabbing of Charles A. Sidley, supposedly by three Negroes who accompanied him to the saloon. Today from several witnesses it seems a white man, Thomas Tuft, was the real assailant. A trial is being con-ducted at the court house.  Tuft was apprehended in Detroit by M. V. Bergman, the chief of police, who called Captain Frazee. Tuft was formerly from Perth, Canada. Detective Schmitt left for Detroit today.

    "The murder seems to have been a most brutal one, and it is to be hoped that the full penalty of the law will be visited upon him." He is a young man about 18 or 19 years of age and of Irish parentage.
(13).

1566 - L June 24:4/4 - Detective Schmitt, who was sent to Detroit June 22 by boat, to return the supposed slayer of a local man from Michigan St., returned today with the suspect, but after several witnesses who saw the man could not identify him, he was released.  The suspect claims his mother fives at Port Hope, Mich., and that he was on his way there when he was arrested. He claims his name is Thomas Connors.

1567 - L June 25:4/4 - The boy suspected of being connected with the Sidley murder was released yesterday and left for Detroit last evening. He probably will give Cleveland a wide berth in the future.

1568 - L June 27:4/4 - Tuft, the suspected Michigan st. murderer, has not been apprehended yet.
(1)

1569 - L June 28:4/2
A reward of $500 was offered yesterday by Cuyahoga county officials for the arrest and delivery of Thomas Tuft, charged with the murder of Charles A. Sidley in Cleveland on June 21.  Tuft is about 20 years of age,
out five feet nine inches tall, dark, with freckles, gray eyes, and dark hair. He is a Canadian by birth and a blacksmith by trade. He [CHECK] a dark blue coat, light pants, and a dark cloth cap.

1570 - L June 29:4/2 – Thomas Tuft, wanted on a charge of the murder of Charles Alex Sidley, was arrested yesterday on River St. by officer Crowl of the Cleveland metropolitan police. Tuft made no resistance and said he came to Cleveland to "give himself up."

1571 - L July 2:4/2 - The preliminary examination of Thomas Tuft has been postponed until July 6. Bail was fixed at $5,000.

1573 - L July 4:4/2 - Thomas Tuft was removed from the station house

to the jail to await his hearing on July 6.
(1)

1574 - L July 6:4/2 - Thomas Tuft has been bound over to the court of common pleas under $5,000 bail. He is unable to produce bail and will remain in jail.

Census:  

Genealogy:

Accused:  

Thomas Tuft
Ethnicity:



Race:


b
Gender:

m
Age:


20

69”
Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation:

blacksmith
Town:




Birthplace:

b. Canada
Religion:



Organizations:



Victim:  

Charles Alex Sidley
Ethnicity:



Race:


w
Gender:

m
Age:


28
Literate:



Marital Status:



Children:



Occupation:

painter
Town:


Cleveland
Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



1867, July




Cleveland, CUY

P

INQ

Class:   probable
Crime:   probable HOM / possible SUI
Rela:    [NONDOM]

Motive:  UNK
Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  0


HOM:  unknown person m. Samuel Maxwell


Weapon:  pistol shot


Circumstances:  “found floating in the water” – Inquest:  “in Canal below the Vineyard street bridge.”  

Inquest:  530  Maxwell    Samuel    i.d. 7/1/1867.  J. C. Schenck, coroner.  Verdict:  shooting.  “by wound caused by a pistol shot fired by some person or persons unknown.”

Indictment:  


Term: 


Court proceedings:  
Legal Records:  


Cuyahoga Co. inquest 530

Newspaper:  

1572 - L July 2:4/3 - The body of Samuel Maxwell, a notorious "blackleg" who had served time in the penitentiary, was found floating in the water yesterday. The coroner's verdict was "death from a pistol shot," as examination revealed that he had been shot.

Census:  

Genealogy:

Accused:  

___

Ethnicity:



Race:




Gender:



Age:


[adult]
Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Victim:  

Samuel Maxwell

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:



Marital Status:



Children:



Occupation:

former convict -- criminal

Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



1867, Aug. 17




Cleveland, CUY
P
INQ
NOTE:  the testimony shows this was a homicide, but it was considered justified by the inquest.


DATE:  just before midnight Saturday night (8/16) or Sunday early am (8/17)

Class:   certain
Crime:   HOM
Rela:    TAVERN CUSTOMER by PROPRIETOR
Motive:  QUARREL / refused to leave premises at closing, quarreling
Intox?:   probably victim
Day of week:
Sun
Holiday?:
no
Time of day:
just after midnight, early am
Days to death:  2

HOM:  Frank Novak suspected of m. James Brazda

Weapon:  pistol [handgun].  Shot in left ear.  Brought to the Charity Hospital on Sunday morning, died there 12:45am on 12/19.

Circumstances:  at Mr. Novak’s “Hall.”  

Inquest:  533  Brazda  James     i.d. 8/19/1867.  J. B. Schenck, coroner.  Verdict:  shooting.  “by a pistol shot form a pistol in the hands of Frank Novak accidentally discharged.”

Indictment:  


Term: 


Court proceedings:  arrested, discharged.
Legal Records:  


Cuyahoga Co. inquest 533


Autopsy results

James Havliock [probably Havlicheck) (signed):  last Saturday, 10 o’clock, “I stepped up to the bar and Mr. Novak treated to a glass of beer and I treated back again.  One man came to me slaping [sic] me pretty hard on the shoulder asking me how I was told him I was well.  Don’t know who he was [illegible].  Mr. Novak told him he should no fight when he insulted Mr. Novak, then Mr. Novak put him out.  I after went out standing on the corner talking with some men.  The man that was shot standing right side of me, falling as I heard the shot fired.  None of us that was standing on the corner had any trouble with Mr. Novak.”
Frances Klabzuba (signed):  “Mr. Novak had treated me with others, when three men came in, don’t know who they were but they spoke English, one of them went up to Mr. Havricheck and taped him on his shoulder asking him how he was, on which he answered he was pretty well.  Mr. Novak thought they wanted to fight took this man and walked him out and went a piece with him on the sidewalk.  Then we all followed them out of the saloon, Mr. Novak turned back and shut the door when we stood on the corner right before the window.  Mr. Novak then looked out of the door, we stood there five minutes, when I heard a shot fired the air from the ball seemed to graze my face.  I saw a man fall who stood right by me about one foot from me.  We all stood upright.”
Joseph Volak (signed):  “I was one of the party at Mr. Novak’s Hall.  Some one standing at the door said don’t let us stay here and see those dam boys – upon which they had to go away.  At twelve o’clock PM Mr. Novak and myself put out the lights in the hall.  The party going away I went down stairs and set down on a chair near the door back of the saloon.  There was some disturbance and a man speaking english went amongst them upon which Mr. Novak put him out.  They others still quarrelling Mr. Novak said if any one wants to fight they got to fight with me.  After this Mr. Novak  blew out the light and I was standing then in the door.  Mr. Novak went into the other room and when he came out again I could see nothing as it was dark, but heard Mr. Novak ask them again to leave the house and soon heard the report of a pistol and saw a flash.  Mr. Novak was standing in line with the window when the pistol was discharged.  I heard but one shot.  By the flash I saw several persons standing near Mr. Novak.”
MUCH MORE TESTIMONY

Newspaper:  

1575 - L Aug. 26:4/2 - Examination of the case of Frank Nowak, in connection with the death of a man named Brazda Aug. 18 was closed Aug. 23 resulting in the discharge of the prisoner.

Census:  

Genealogy:

Accused:  

Frank Novak 
Ethnicity:

Polish
Race:


w
Gender:

m
Age:


adult
Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Victim:  

James Brazda
Ethnicity:

Polish
Race:


w
Gender:

m
Age:


adult
Literate:



Marital Status:



Children:



Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



1867, Nov. [16]




Cleveland, CUY

P

INQ

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM / SUI

Rela:    ROMANCE SUITED by SUITOR or less likely NONDOM EMPLOYEE by

 EMPLOYER 
Motive:  probably POSSESSIVE

Intox?:  

Day of week:
Sat
Holiday?:
no


Time of day:


Days to death:  0

HOM:  James H. Gregory m. Isabella Roy


Weapon:  shot her in left temple with a large revolver, then cut his own throat with razor


Circumstances:  in the photographic rooms over number 9 Public Square, where they worked.


Inquest:  537  Gregory  J. H.                        11/16/1867 shooting           



    537  Roy  Isabella                         11/16/ 1867 shooting            

Indictment:  


Term: 


Court proceedings:  
Legal Records:  


Cuyahoga Co. inquest 537

Newspaper:  

4448 – Cleveland Leader 11/18/1867:  4/3,4,5:  The most terribly tragedy that has ever taken place in this city was brought to light on Nov. 16, although the precise time of its occurrence will probably never be known.


James H. Gregory, proprietor of the photographic rooms over number 9 Public Square, and Isabella Roy, who was in his employ, were both found dead in the above mentioned rooms, the latter having been shot and the former with his throat cut.  Evidences show that Gregory committed the murder and then turned to suicide.


The crime was discovered by his estranged wife.  Gregory was found in the adjoining room of the parlor and the woman was found at the foot of the stairs.  A letter was found on Gregory which gave his confession.  It said:  ‘This Miss Roy brought me into this last crime which I can’t unfold.’  The coroner returned a verdict of murder and suicide.”


JHG had been an abusive husband.  A year before the murder, his wife had him arrested and fined in Police Court for threats against her.


IR had worked for him the previous six months.  For the first part of that period she lived at home with her parents, but since the business was far from her home, “Gregory induced her to board at his house, and they accompanied each other to and from his place of business.  An intimacy sprang up between them, which at length grew to be of a questionable character.  To the wife this seemed to bode no good, and she remonstrated with him upon the subject, but without avail.”


Left a suicide note (text in the article).


IR told some that JHG “had tried to induce her to elope with him. . . .  He took all possible means to break up the engagement between her and her lover, and we are informed that she was induced to postpone her marriage through his solicitations, it having been expected to take place several weeks ago.  He had visited, both her father and her betrothed, a day or two previous to the murder, and shown them the improper pictures above spoken of, for the purpose, undoubtedly, of alienating them from her.  Her continued refusal to fly with him and the trouble which would arise from the exposure of his intimacy with the girl may have so aroused his passions that he resolved upon the bloody deed.”

TESTIMONY:  Mr. Roy:  “I did not distrust anything wrong until a young man named West, who was engaged to marry Isabel, called and said he had seen an improper picture of my girl at Gregory’s room.  I called to see Gregory on Friday, but the door was locked.”

Census:  

Genealogy:

Accused:  

James H. Gregory

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:



Marital Status:  
strained relationship with his wife

Children:

1 daughter (8 or 10)
Occupation:

proprietor of the photographic rooms over number 9 Public Square

Town:


Cleveland
Lived with his wife at 2 Miami St.
Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Victim:  

Isabella Roy

Ethnicity:

[French]
Race:


w

Gender:

f

Age:


19
Literate:



Marital Status:

engaged to be married
Children:



Occupation:

employee of JHG

Town:


Cleveland – lived with her parents on the West Side
Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



1868, June 2





Cleveland, CUY

P

INQ
Class:   certain
Crime:  HOM  

Rela:   NONDOM (STRANGERS)  

Motive:  BRAWL
Intox?:  yes, assailants
Day of week:
T
Holiday?:
no


Time of day:
4:30am
Days to death:  0

HOM:  James Stewart (aided and abetted by Albert Forbey, James (or John) Ryan, Patsey Flynn, Thomas Reese, and George W. Morrison) m. Charles Herring


Weapon: HANDS AND FEET [phys]

Circumstances: CHARLES HERRING WAS KICKED AND BEATEN TO DEATH ON BROADWAY ST. ON JUNE 2 AROUND 4:30AM  BY SEVERAL MEN


Inquest:  544:  i.d. 6/2/1868:  violence

Indictment: CHARGES WERE BROUGHT AGAINST SEVERAL MEN FOR MANSLAUGHTER, CARRYING TERMS OF BETWEEN 1 AND 10 YEARS OF JAIL 


Term: 


Court proceedings:  THE TRIAL BEGAN ON JUNE 5 WITH ARGUMENTS FROM BOTH THE STATE AND THE DEFENSE LAWYERS OBTAINED BY THE ACCUSED.  JAMES STEWARD AND ALBERT FORBEY WERE SENTENCED TO 5 YEARS IN THE PENITENTIARY.
Legal Records:  

Cuyahoga Co. inquest 544
Newspaper:  

1671 - L June 3:4/3,4 - On the morning of June 2 about 4:30 a.m., a most brutal and cowardly murder was perpetrated on Broadway, near the corner of Liberty St. Charles Herring, a young man, was attacked by six or eight half-drunken men, and kicked and beaten to death.  The body was removed to the carpenter and joiner shop of Lewis Seitz, who took charge of the body and prepared it for examination by the coroner and physicians.  Drs John W. Cleveland and C. Schenck arrived in company with the coroner and a jury.  The examination will be continued this morning at nine o'clock, and the inquest will probably consume the better part of the day.

1672 - L June 4:4/4 - The coroners investigation of the murder of Charles Herring on Broadway on June 2 was continued yesterday in the criminal court room of the county building.  The verdict of the jury is that the deceased came to his death by the violence at the hands of James Stewart, as principal, aided and abetted by Albert Forbey, James (or John) Ryan, Patsey Flynn, Thomas Reese, and George W. Morrison.

1673 - L Joe 5:4/2 - At nine o'clock this morning the examination of the concerned in the late murder on Broadway will take place at the central station. City attorney A. T. Brinsmade appears for the state; and Messrs. M. Barlow and S. E. Adams, Esq., appear for the defense.

1674 - L June 6:4/3 - James Stewart, Albert Forbey, and John Hoffman, John (or James) Ryan, and George W. Morrison were brought before the municipal court yesterday morning for preliminary trial on charges of murdering Charles Herring.  The parties may be brought to trial before the present term of the court of common pleas.  The grand jury will probably be in session the coming week.  It is hardly probable that a bill for murder will be found against any of the parties.  For manslaughter, the punishment is imprisonment in the penitentiary for a term of not less than one or more than ten years.  The punishment of the parties will doubtless be somewhere inside of these terms.

1690 - L July 10:4/2 - James Steward, convicted of manslaughter, has been sentenced by Judge Horace Foote to five years in the penitentiary.

1691 - L July 14:1/7 - James Ryan delivered himself to authorities yesterday.  He was implicated in the murder of Charles Herring.  Ryan was placed under a $500 bond.

1726 - L Dec. 1:4/3 - Our readers will remember the killing of Charles Herring on Broadway several months ago for which Albert Forbey and James Steward were found guilty on a charge of manslaughter and were each sentenced to the penitentiary for five years.  James Ryan, implicated in the killing, has just surrendered himself to the authorities.
Census:  

Genealogy:

Accused 1:  

James Stewart



Ethnicity:

[Scots]
Race:


w
Gender: 

m



Age:


adult
Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation:



Town: 


CLEVELAND




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Accused 2:  
Albert Forbey, James (or John) Ryan, Patsey Flynn, Thomas Reese, and George W. Morrison



Ethnicity:



Race:


w
Gender: 

m



Age:


adult
Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation:



Town: 


CLEVELAND




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Victim:

 CHARLES HERRING 



Ethnicity:



Race:


w
Gender: 

m



Age:


adult
Literate:



Marital Status:



Children:



Occupation:



Town: 


CLEVELAND




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:


1868, June 27





Warrensville, CUY

P
INQ

NOTE:  guessing that HQ is one of the victims
Class:   certain: 2 adults
Crime:  HOM / delayed SUI
Rela:    RELATIVE STEPSONS by STEPFATHER   

Motive: OBTAIN PROPERTY RIGHTS / to deprive stepchildren of their inheritance
Intox?: yes, assailant
Day of week:
Sat
Holiday?:
no


Time of day:


Days to death:  0, [4]

HOM:  John Coole m. Henry Quail and Edward Quail

Weapon:  knife

Circumstances: JOHN COOLE THREATENED TO KILL HIS FAMILY, HIS NEIGHBORS AND HIMSELF.  HE KILLED HIS 2 STEP-SONS AND THEN COMMITTED SUICIDE ONCE INSIDE THE JAIL.  HE COULD HAVE BEEN INSANE. 


Inquest:  545:  HENRY QUAIL  i.d. 6/27/1868   MURDERED 


Indictment: INDICTED ON 2 COUNTS OF MURDER-- ONE OF THE BOYS’ MADE A STATEMENT BEFORE HE DIED ACCUSING JOHN COOLE OF COMMITTING THE CRIMES.  


Term: 


Court proceedings:  COURT PROCEEDINGS BEGAN AND JOHN COOLE SAID HE WAS INNOCENT AND THAT LIQUOR KILLED THE BOYS.  EVIDENCE WAS BROUGHT FORTH THAT COOLE WANTED THE PROPERTY THAT THE BOYS’ WOULD INHERIT.  HE THEN COMMITTED SUICIDE BY SLICING HIS THROAT WITH A RAZOR WHILE IN JAIL.
Legal Records:  

Cuyahoga Co. inquest 545
Newspaper:  

1681 - L June 29:4/3,4 -- On June 27 a most revolting crime occurred near Warrensville, when a farmer named John Coole, who had formerly married widow with four children and a 67 acre farm, threatened to kill the family, some neighbors and himself.  He killed one boy and another is not expected to live.  Coole was arrested before he had time to carry out the rest of his threats.

1682 - L June 30:4/3 - At the coroner's inquest on June 27, a deposition was taken from the boy who was still alive.  Edward Quayle of Warrensville made his dying statement June 28.  The boy was about 20 years old.  He said he and his brother were stabbed on June 27 by John Coole, his stepfather.  The brother, Henry, died June 27, and Edward died yesterday.


1683 - L July 1:4/2 - A special grand jury summoned yesterday returned two first degree murder indictments against John Coole. It was undecided whether the trial would take place immediately or at the next term of court.

1684 -  July 4; ed:2/2 - We are informed by persons who are familiar with facts in the Coole murder case that the suspicions existing against Mrs. Coole among her neighbors are without foundation. We did not publish them as facts, but as neighborhood gossip.


1685 - L July 4:4/3 - John Coole, in jail on the charge of urdering his two stepsons a week ago, was visited today by his wife. Coole said that he did not kill the boys: that liquor killed them.  He will he brought before the court on July 6 for trial. The defense, it is understood, will plead that he was crazed with liquor when he committed the murders.
But Judge Foote had no mercy 
1688 - L July 7:4/4 - Henry and Edward Quayle were murdered June 27 near Warrensville. The dying statement of one of them indicated that their stepfather, John Coole, was the murderer.  The report is that Coole was striving to obtain control of their proper​ty left by the father of the two boys. Coole, apparently drunk, quarreled with his wife (the mother of the boys) about the property on the evening of the murder, after a trip to legal authorities concerning his control of the property.


1689 - L July 8:4/3 - John Coole, born on the Isle of Man about 1824, was subject to violent fits of passion and destroyed everything in his way. He went to sea at the age of 15.  As a boy he loved strong drink.  He left the sea, settled down in Warrensville in 1858, and two years lat​er married Betsy Quayle, a widow with two sons.  He is alleged to have killed the two sons while in a drunken fit, and then attempted to kill himself.  Early this morning Coole was found by occupants of the jail with his throat cut by a razor. The jury returned a verdict of suicide.
Census:  

Genealogy:

ccused: 

JOHN COOLE 



Ethnicity:



Race:


w
Gender: 

m



Age: 


44




Literate:



Marital Status: 
MARRIED 


Children: 

2 STEP-SONS (WHO HE KILLED)
4 stepchildren in all
Occupation: 

FARMER



Town:


WARRENSVILLE



Birthplace: 

ISLE OF MAN



Religion:



Organizations:



Victim 1:

HENRY QUAIL 



Ethnicity:



Race:


w
Gender: 

m


Age: 


adult




Literate:



Marital Status: 
s



Children: 

no
Occupation: 

FARMER



Town:


WARRENSVILLE


Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:


Victim 2:

EDWARD QUAIL 



Ethnicity:



Race:


w
Gender: 

m


Age: 


20



Literate:



Marital Status: 
s



Children: 

no
Occupation: 

FARMER



Town:


WARRENSVILLE


Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:


1868, July 5




Berea, Middleburgh Township, CUY

INQ

Class:   possible
Crime:   probable HOM / possible CAS RR
Rela:    [NONDOM]
Motive:  UNK
Intox?:  

Day of week:
Sun
Holiday?:
early am after Fourth of July
Time of day:
before 3:47 am
Days to death:  0

HOM:  unknown person(s) may have m. Gerold [Jerold] Dooley

Weapon:  [violence]

Circumstances:  


Inquest:  547:  DOULEY, JERALD  i.d. 7/5/1868.  J. M. Watson, acting coroner.  Verdict:   VIOLENCE.  Body found at Berea Station on the C. C. & C. Railroad track.  “being run over by the freight train on the C. C. & C. Rail Road at Berea 3 O’clock and forty seven minutes a.m., cause by laying on the track Intoxcated [sic].”  //  A second jury, sworn 7/10/1868, found that he died “by Violence and that said body has upon it the following marks and wounds, a cut under the right eye below the eye in the socket of the eye, a fracture of the skul back and over the left ear Body afterwards was run over and mangled by the Freight Train due at Berea 3 O Clock 47 going North, but it is the opinion of the Jury that the Deceased was not killed by the train.”

Indictment:  


Term: 


Court proceedings:  
Legal Records:  

Cuyahoga Co. inquest 547
Newspaper:  

Census:  

Genealogy:

Accused:  

___
Ethnicity:



Race:




Gender:



Age:




Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Victim: 

JERALD DOULEY 



Ethnicity:



Race:


w
Gender: 

m



Age:


adult
Literate:



Marital Status:



Children:



Occupation:



Town:


CLEVELAND

Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:


1868, Sept. 12




Independence, CUY

P

INQ
Class:   certain
Crime:  HOM
Rela:     NONDOM
Motive: resisting BURGLARY [ROBBERY]
Intox?:   no
Day of week:
Sat
Holiday?:
no


Time of day:


Days to death:  0
HOM:  William Folliott (aided and abetted by Thomas Mulhall, John Kilfoyl, John Butterfield, Robert McKanna, and Lewis Davis) m. David L. Skinner.  



NOTE:  John Mulhall may have been involved.

Weapon:  pistol.  d. inst.  [handgun, unspecified type]

Circumstances:  shot DS during a burglary at the home of the victim.  It appears that five men (not including JK) tried to rob the family.  All were armed with handguns and knives.  LD appears to have been the one who panicked andkilled DLS.

Inquest:  553:  i.d. 9/12/1868.  Shooting.


Indictment: TM:  m-1.  JK:  conspiracy to murder.  JB and RM:  assault with intent to kill and rob.

Term: 2/1869

Court proceedings:  11/1868t:  LD:  fG m-1.  DEATH.  2/1869t:  JK fG of conspiracy to murder.  15 yrs.  TM:  fG m-1.  DEATH.  JB and RM:  fG assault with intent to kill and rob.  5 yrs.  3/1871t:  WF pG to  two felony counts.  15 yrs.
Legal Records:  

Cuyahoga Co. inquest 553
Newspaper:  

1694 – Cleveland Leader 9/14/1868:4/4,5 - A fearful deed of blood was committed Sept.11 in the township of Independence.  David Skinner, a milkman, was shot and instantly killed by burglars in his own home, as he was surrounded by his family.  The burglars entered the living room with a cocked pistol, and ordered the occupants not to stir on the pain of instant death.  Nothing was said about money or the object of their visit.  Skinner was killed instantly.  On Sept. 13, Prosecuting Attorney J. M. Jones and his assistant, H. B, DeWolf, went to the house to investigate the murder.  The decision render​ed was that David Skinner came to his death by a pistol ball at the hands of some person or persons unknown to them.

1695 - L Sept. 15:4/4 - Police yesterday arrested three men on the canal on suspicion of being parties to the cold-blooded murder of David Skinner.  The men are Hutch Butterfield, Lew Davis and a Mr. Cunningham.

1696 - L Sept. 16:4/6 - Superintendent of Police Thomas McKinstry has issued the following circular:  "Cleveland, Sept. 14, 1868.  "Five hundred dollars reward will be paid for the arrest and convic​tion of William Folliott, charged with the crime of the murder of David P. Skinner of this county on the night of Sept. 12, 1868.  "He is 26 years old, 5 feet 7 or 8 inches high, fair complexion, weight 150 pounds, has fine white teeth, is a brewer by trade; has worked with his father in this city from his boyhood up.

"I am authorized to pay five hundred dollars ($500) for the arrest and conviction of Folliott."
1697 - L Sept. 17:4/5 - A preliminary examination of John Butterfield, Lewis Davis, and Robert McKanna, charged with the murder of David P. Skinner at Independence on Sept. 12, was set for Sept. 23 in municipal court.  Judge Seth A. Abbey will preside.  R.A. Davidson appeared as counsel for Butterfield, S.E. Adams for Davis and M.S.Castle and C. W. Palmer for McKanna.  Butterfield has lived here for 12 years, and is one of the city's “roughs.”  Davis is 26 years old, and presents a peaceful appearance.
He is well known in Cleveland, where he was born.  McKanna is about 20, and has been up before the police on minor charges, but has never been charged with a major crime.  The prisoners were taken back to jail in irons, and will be compelled to remain thus during the two months elapsing before the session of court.
1698 - L Sept. 21:4/3 - Lewis Davis, one of the gang of villains who is supposed to have shot David P. Skinner, will be examined tomorrow.


1699 - L Sept. 23:4/3 - Preliminary examination of Lewis Davis was postponed until Sept. 29.

1701 - L Sept. 30:4/5 - Lewis Davis was arraigned before Judge Abbey in municipal court on Sept. 29.  A large number of witnesses and specta​tors were present.  S. E. Adams, counsel for prisoners, said that he would waive a hearing. Judge Abbey ordered the prisoner to be held for appearance before the grand jury in November, and that no bail be taken. Davis was remanded to jail.

1707 - L Oct. 5:4/4 - On Sept. 22 Detectives Rowe and Frank arrested Gannon at his home in Independence. He is charged with being implicated in the murder of David P. Skinner.  The young man, who is well known here, is locked up in the Cleveland jail pending the finding of further evidence.

1714 - L Nov 17:4/4,5 - The trial of Lewis Davis began yesterday morning.  Judge Prentiss presided.  The prosecution is conducted by J. M. Jones, prosecuting attorney, and his assistant, H. B. DeWolf.  The prisoner is represented by S. E. Adams and T. J. and J. J. Caran.  There was great difficulty in choosing an impartial jury.  The following witnesses were sworn in: Charles T. Jones, Mrs. Susan Johns, and Dr. J. C. Schenck.  The prosecuting attorney read the indictment that Lewis Davis, John Butterfield, Robert McKanna, Thomas Mulball, and William Folliott were engaged in an expedition which resulted in the shooting of Skinner, and that Davis fired the shot.  After examination of the witnesses by Adams, the defense dwelt especial​ly upon the partial, foggy identification of Davis as the one who did the shooting.  Before the court adjourned for the day, the judge cautioned the jury at to discuss the trial.  The case will be continued tomorrow.

1715 - L Nov. 18:4/4-6 - The second day of the Skinner murder trial open​ed with an examination of John Butterfield, who testified that he was one of the five men who intended to rob the Skinner home; but claimed that he had no part in the shooting, because he was detailed as a watchman outside.  After much cross examination of Butterfield by Adams, attorney for the defense, the court adjourned until afternoon.  In the afternoon session, Edward Camp was on the witness stand.  He said that he worked in Lewis Davis' blacksmith shop, and that he made the wedges and the chisel which were used to break into the Skinner home.  The next man to testify was Sheriff Felix Nicola.  He stated that the bullets found in Davis' pocket were of the same description as the ones taken from Skinner's body.  He produced the bullets as well as a pair of muddy pantaloons, which Davis wore on the night of the murder.  He also called the court's attention to the strange fact that Davis could not give a satisfactory reason why he bought a revolver, or tell what became of it since the night of the murder.  Richard Jennings, owner of a gun store, testified that he sold the gun and bullets which it is alleged were used in shooting Skinner, but the buyer of the gun was not Davis. Court adjourned until tomorrow.

1716 - L Nov. 19:4/4-7 - The third day of the Skinner murder trial opened with the questioning of John O'Neil, who testified that Lewis Davis asked him to lend him a gun.  William Cash was then called to the stand, and he swore that some of the tools used in the breaking into the Skinner home were stolen from his blacksmith shop.  Fifteen men testified that they saw the five accused walking towards Independence on the night of the murder.  Detective Samuel Rowe was the first witness in the afternoon session.  He testified that the bullets that he took from Davis and the bullet taken from Skinner's body were identical. Police Officers Isaac Frank, William Kinney, and Jacob Lomber were questioned about the details in their arrest of Davis.  Robert McKanna, 20, was called to the stand, and he said that after many denials he is ready to tell the true incidents of the murder.  He said that he, Davis, Mulhall, Butterfield, and Folliott walked to the Skinner farm with the intention of robbing the safe.  They carried revolvers and knives, but their intentions were to frighten the Skinner family into giving up their money.  He testified that Davis shot Skinner when the latter attempted to stand up when the guns were pointed at him.  This was the first direct evidence that Davis was the murderer, and it caused great excitement in the packed court room.  When Davis heard this statement, he turned purple in the face and ground his teeth, but he controlled his temper.

1717 - L Nov. 20:4/4-6 - S. E. Adams, counsel for the defense, cross-examined the prisoner, Robert McKanna.  The prisoner stated that he was not at Skinner's at the time of the fatal shooting, and that he knew nothing about it.  Other suspects, Davis, Butterfield, Folliott, and Mulhall were also questioned.  Stories of the different suspects and witnesses differed.  Definite conclusions have not yet been made.

1718 - L Nov. 21; ed:4/4,5 - The trial of Lewis Davis was continued today.  H. B. DeWolf, assistant prosecuting attorney, made the opening argument for the state.  DeWolf said that unless the state clearly proved what it claims to he able to prove, he hopes the jury will declare the defendant innocent.  From the facts disclosed in the testimony, the jury cannot find the prisoner guilty of anything but first degree murder. Nothing could be said of Butterfield and McKanna, except that they are "criminals of the deepest dye."  T. J.Carran, Esq., opened the argument for the defense.  He delivered a fine speech in favor of the prisoner.  He reminded the jury that according to an acknowledged principle of law, if they could reconcile the circumst​ances with the supposition that Folliott, Mulhall, or any other person had done the shooting, they must not find the prisoner guilty.  Carran was quite certain that Folliott or Mulhall had committed the murder.  Adams, who considered the evidence, took up the cases of Hutch Butter​field and Bob McKanna, upon whose evidence the prisoner, if convicted, must be found guilty.  "The effort of Mr. Adams is a truly masterly one, and elicits the highest enconiums from the many members of the bar and others."  The trial will be continued.


1719- L Nov. 23:2/5 - On Nov. 21 the court convened again to continue the trial for the murder of Skinner.  S.E. Adams continued his argument for the defense. He labored to discredit the testimony of Butterfield and McKanna, who are charged with the same crime as Davis.  He urged the jury to use good judgment in the case.  J.M. Jones, the prosecuting attorney, gave the closing argument for the state. He alluded to the responsibility resting upon the jury.  The state claimed that Lewis Davis premeditated malice and willfully killed David P. Skinner, and that his accomplices are guilty of murder in the first degree.  This afternoon Jones will conclude his argument, and the case will then be given to the jury.
1720 - L Nov. 24:2/6 - It was supposed that a verdict would be rendered on Nov. 28 in the Davis case, but a notice has been posted upon the door that the trial has been postponed until Nov. 30.


1721 - L Nov. 24:4/4-7 - The trial of Lewis Davis is drawing to a close.  Judge Prentiss, after hearing the case, said to the jury: "The first count of the indictment charges Lewis Davis with purposely and with delib​erate and premeditated malice discharging into the body of David Skinner a pistol loaded with gunpowder and a leaden bullet.  If you find him guilty, you will specify in your verdict of what degree of homicide you find him guilty, whether of murder in the first degree, murder in the second degree, or manslaughter.  You may retire, gentlemen, to your deliberations upon this case."  Judge Prentiss went home, leaving instructions that he should be sent for if the jury should agree any time before midnight; if they had not agreed, or discovered their inability to agree, by that time, the sheriff was to lock them in for the night. At a quarter past twelve o'clock the court adjourned to this morning, with the jury still locked in their room.

1722 - L Nov. 25:4/6 - Lewis Davis was found guilty of murder in the degree.  The jury agreed after having been out 18 hours.  When the fatal word was pronounced by the foreman, all eyes were directed upon Davis to note the effect upon him. The word "guilty" changed his eager gaze to a wild, vacant stare, but aside from this no change of countenance or evidence of feeling was manifested.  The jury was discharged with the thanks of the court for their patient attendance during the long trial.

1724 - L Nov. 30:4/4 - Lewis Davis has been quite ill since his conviction.  Dr. Roeder says he needs rest.  No action for a new trial, filed on Nov. 27 by the attorneys of Davis, has yet been forthcoming.

1725 - L Dec. 1:4/2 - The rumors that a new trial has been granted by Judge Samuel B. Prentiss in the Davis murder case are incorrect.  No action has yet been taken on the motion made on Nov. 27 by the prisoner's counsel to that effect.  Davis has nearly recovered from his illness.

1729 - L Dec. 2:4/3 • Judge Prentiss has set Dec. 9 as the date for the hearing of the argument upon the motion for a new trial in the case of Lewis Davis, convicted of murder in the first degree.  Several reasons are assigned by the defendant's counsel for requesting a new trial.  The first reason alleges misconduct on the part of the jury; the second charge is that of irregularity in the proceedings of the jury by which said defendant was prevented from having a fair trial; third, that said verdict is not sustained by sufficient evidence, and is contrary to law; fourth,newly discovered evidence for the defendant which he could not with reasonable diligence have discovered and produced at the trial, and that one of the principal witnesses on the part of the prosecution has such a bad reputation for lack of truth and veracity that his testimony is wholly unworthy of credit; and fifth, error of law, occurring at the trial and excepted to by the defendant.

1730 - L Dec. 9:4/2 - The arguments upon the motion for a new trial in the case of Lewis Davis will be heard before Judge Prentiss this morning.

1731 - L Dec. 10:4/3 - In the case of Lewis Davis yesterday, arguments upon the motion for a new trial were heard.  The entire morning was consumed by the prosecuting attorney and the attorney for the defense in arguing upon a statement of facts to be submitted to the court, setting forth what was admitted by both sides as being points that could be prov​ed.  The prisoner was brought into the court room, and the attorneys declared their readiness to proceed with the case.
It is admitted in the statement of facts that after the jury retired they were allowed to use the court room, due to the illness of two jurors. Testimony taken by the counsel for the defendant, the judge's charge to the jury, and the minutes of the testimony were in the court room.  It is admitted by the state, the sheriff, and the jurors that they can prove that they had no knowledge of the presence of the said minutes, charge of the court, and law books.

The judge reserved his decision till a future day, and the court adjourned. There was a large attendance of spectators.

1733 - L Dec. 29:4/4 - Tom Mulhall of this city, charged with being one of the murderers of David B. Skinner on Sept. 12 last, was brought before Judge Prentiss yesterday and arraigned upon the indictments found against him by the grand jury.  Prosecuting Attorney Jones read the indictments to him and he pleaded not guilty to both indictments. S.E. Adam and C.W. Palmer will appear as counsel for the defense.  Whether the trial will take place at this or the February term of court has not been decided.

1735 - L Dec. 30/1868:4/3 - Lewis Davis, convicted of the murder of Skinner, appealed for a new trial on the grounds of "misbehavior of the jury," but was denied the appeal by Judge Prentiss in the criminal court yester​day morning.  Judge Prentiss gave a lengthy reason for his denial of the appeal and stated that if he were in error, the error could be corrected.

Cleveland Leader 1869
Mulhall Court Feb19-26/1869:  mistrial declared Apr 5 Court May 15-20 found guilty sentenced to hang Aug. 201221.  Kilfoyl trial June 10-17  found guilty of conspiracy to commit murder sentenced to 15 years

L Feb. 26/1869:4/4 - After having been in consultation for more than 40 hours, the jury, in the rose of the state vs. Thomas Mulhall, sig​nified that a verdict had been agreed upon. When the foreman announced that the verdict was guilty, little or no surprise was manifested. Mulhall appeared quiet and did not exhibit much emotion, but after hearing the verdict he was heard to curse and express his disgust at the jurors. His crime, as alleged in the indictment, is aiding and abet​ting a murder in the first degree. The penalty for this is death. It only remains for the judge to pass sentence and fix the date of the execution.

1222 - 1. Apr. 5:4/5 - Judge Prentiss finished his decision on Apr. 3 upon a motion for n new trial for Mulhall. He stated that the verdict should be net aside on account of incompetency of one of the jurors. In deciding upon this point, the judge stated that he was in consider-able doubt. but considered it his duty if he erred at all, to err on the aide of the defendant, and therefore he would grant a new trial. The opinion of the court was long, elaborate, and exhaustive, and elic​ited much praise. An application was made for the trial of the case this term, but owing to Adams' illness the case was postponed until next term.
(6)

1223 - L May 6:4/5 - Another page in the history of the murder of David P. Skinner in Independence last September was opened yesterday. For a long time police authorities suspected that John Kilfnyl, known in this city, was in some way connected with Lewis Davis and his confed​erates. After sufficient evidence had been gathered, a warrant was issued for his arrest. He expressed much surprise at his arrest and was vehement in his protestations of innocence. He was lodged in jail to await a hearing.
(5)

1224 - I. May 11:4/5 - Yesterday afternoon John Kilfoy', of this city, was arraigned before justice F. A. Brand on a charge of deliberate and premeditated malice in aiding and abetting Lewis It. Davis in the murder of David P. Skinner last September. The arrest of Kilfoyl was made at the instigation of John Mulhall, brother of the Thomas Mulhall who was convicted of the same charge.

The prosecution called as first witness Thomas Mulhall, but his testimony was rejected. John Mulhall was then called. He stated that on the night of the murder he and Kilfoyl met Thomas, who told of the robbery and murder, and that he received his wounds trying to get a-way. The witness testified that Thomas and Kilfoyl went to McKinstry's house to relate the story of the affair. He testified that Kilfoyl told him he had "put up the job." He claimed that McHinstry knew of the plan to commit a robbery at Skinner's, but supposed it was not his business to ferret out and stop such crimes. Other witnesses were in​troduced who swore that Kilfoyl had said that he and Folliott "put up the job" and he gave his pistol to Folliott. The examination occupied all afternoon and was postponed until today. In the afternoon John Mulhall was arrested on the charge of perjury, at the instigation of McKinstry.
(10)

1225 - L May 12:1/7 The examination of Kilfoyl on a charge of aiding and abetting the Skinner murder was continued yesterday afternoon, and occupied the attention of Justice Brand from two until five p.m.

Superintendent AlcKinstry, first called, stated that Kilfoyl was em​ployed as a secret detective some time previous to the Skinner tragedy, He stated that Butterfield, when arrested, made a clean breast of the attempted robbery and murder.

Ex-Sheriff Nicola and Detectives Schmitt and Rowe swore that they knew Kilfoyl was employed as a secret detective.

S. E. Adams. Esq., council for Mulhall at the first trial, said nothing was ever said to him in regard to Kilfoyl having anything to do with the crime.

Justice Brand stated that upon the affidavit. which was informal in mom respects. he could not bold Kilfoyl.

Thereupon John Mulhall swore out. another affidavit against Kilfoyl,

more formal and regular, charging the some crime.
(7)

1226 - I. May 15:4/4 - Judge R. F. Paine commenced the second trial yesterday of Thomas Mulhall, indicted for aiding and abetting Lewis Davis in the murder al David P. Skinner of Independence. O. All the former witnesses were present.

Richard Allen, who lives on Lorain at., was also present. Allen had Is his possession at the time of the murder a pistol belonging to Jake Heldmeyer, the saloon keeper. He testified that on the day of the mur​der Folliott called upon him twice to get the pistol, presenting a forged order for the weapon purporting to be from Heldmeyer.

Shortly after five o'clock the court adjourned until today.

The prisoner looks somewhat pale from his long confinement and watch-to the proceedings with a nervous, restless eye. All that he or his friends can hope for is a lesser degree of crime than murder in the first degree, of which he was convicted upon his former trial.
(9)
1227 - L May 19:2/6 - In regard to the Skinner murder, the only testi​mony that has not been previously given was that of Superintendent Mckinstry yesterday. He stated he employed Kilfoyl, by permission of the mayor, to give him information in regard to thieves generally; that be was employed only as a "stool-pigeon" He nlso said that Kilfoyl sever gave him the name of Mr. Mulhall, but gave other names, and that be never knew anything of the contemplated robbery at Skinner's. The testimony of McKinstry was the last introduced. The court adjourned until next week.
(22)

I22o - L May 20:1/8 - The second examination of John Kilfoyl, who was arrested on the charge of complicity in the Skinner murder, commenced yesterday before Justice Brand. The first witness called was the com​plainant, John Mulhall. During the examination J. M. Mulhall said that he knew all the time that Kilfoyl put up the job.

Kilfoyl was asked by Mr. Mulhall to be a witness at his brother's trial. and to swear that Tom told Kilfoyl about the murder in McDonough's saloon on Superior st. the night after the murder. Kilfoyl would not agree to testify, saying that he did not want to be held responsible for Davis' hanging and the arrest of the others, because he was not ready to leave town.

Patrick Grimley swore that Kilfoyl told him that if he had not been sick he would have been with the party at Skinner's. Also that Kilfoyl said that Ministry did not want to "pull" the party, and so did not advertise Tom Mulhell's name for two days, so that he might escape.

The examination was resumed in the afternoon. The principal evidence was introduced by Mrs. George McDonough, at whose house John Mulhall net Kilfovl after the arrest of Thomas Mulhall. She listened from the next room and corroborated the testimony of John Mulhall as to Kilfoyl's admission that he was concerned in getting up the job at Skinner's, also as to what Kilfoyl void abnut Mclinstry's part in it in regard to the escape of Thomas Mulhall by the aid of Kilfoyl's instructions as to the best routes to take to elude the police. At this point the examination was postponed until this morning.

1229 - L May 20:4/4 - Yesterday morning the closing argument for the state in the case of Thomas Mulhall was made by J. M. Jones, Esq., prosecuting attorney. His speech was characterized by his usual ability. He carefully canvassed the arguments of the opposing counsel and re-viewed the testimony throughout, dwelling upon the principle point in the former trial of the prisoner, that Skinner was killed by one of a band of conspirators. of which the accused was a member. The court ad​journed until two p.m., at which time the charge of the court was given. Judge Paine's charge was an able one. The prisoner seemed nervous and restless, awaiting with feverish anxiety the moment which should decide his fate.

Shortly after eight p.m. the jury indicated to the sheriff that they had agreed upon the verdict. Mulhall cast a wild, eager, frightened look at those who held his life in their hands, as if to reed in their faces his fate. The judge inquired: "Gentlemen of the jury, have you agreed upon a verdict?" To which the foreman replied, "We have." "Now say you, gentlemen, is the prisoner at the bar guilty or not guilty as charged in the indictment?"
The silence was oppressive and the suspense painful, as every ear was bent to catch the answer. "Guilty!" came from the foreman's lips in a clear firm voice, although it seemed to cost him an effort as if' he dreaded speaking the word which condemned a fellow being to the eeeffnld.  T. M. Adams, counsel for the defense, desired to have the jury polled. and the answer to each was, "Guilty!" The last hope died in the heart of Thomas Mulhall as be beard these words.

The prisoner was remanded to his cell, in all probability never again to see the light of day except through the grated windows of the jail. The jury in this case was one of the most intelligent and digni​fied that was ever impaneled in this city.

1232 - L June 10:4/3,4 The trial of John Kilfoyl was resumed today, but as the cross-examination of John Mulhall was resumed, nothing of new interest was elicited.

Jacob Heldmeyer testified that on the day of the murder Kilfoyl tried to borrow his pistol.

Mrs. Ellen McDonough was the next witness called. She testified that on Dec. 29, 1868, J. Mulhall and Kilfoyl came to her house for a private talk. She overheard Kilfoyl admitting to Mulhall that he bad put up the job and heard an outline of the whole affair.

Thnmas Kavanagh, n saloonkeeper, stated that about a week before the Skinner murder Kilfoyl and Tom Mulhall had come to his place and asked fora pistol, but he had told them his son had taken it away.
Mks Matilda Fell testified that the week following the murder Tom Mulhall stayed at her house and was visited there by his brother and Hillnvl. Sergeant Goodrich detailed the arrangements made for the wrest ,1 1'„ party as soon as intelligence of the murder was received. Seperalc s!,omrls were detached for the arrest of Davis, Butterfield, Follintt, and McKenna.

Mrs. Elizabeth Folliott testified that the week of the murder she saw Kilfoyl and her husband tinlrthrr only later. Once they borrowed a horse and baggy from her mother to go to the eight mile lock in Inde​pendence, O.

Patrick Grimley testified that on Sept. 16. Kilfoyl admitted to him that he nod Folliott put up the job. Kilfnyl said that Butterfield had squealed on the party and McKinstry had told him to go away and keep his mouth shut as he did not want to arrest him. McKinstry sent Tom Mulhall ten dollars with which to leave town.

Later Richard Allen stated that Folliott came to him just before the murder with a written order for Heldmeyer's gun. He said he wanted it

right away, whether it was good or had.
(48)

1233 - I. June II:1/6,0 - The third day of the Kilfoyl trial John Cratty was the first witness to testify. He said that a day or two before the murder Kilfoyl and Folliott passed his place in a buggy, going up towards the canal.

E. B. Abbott, a turnkey on the police force, stated that he over-heard a conversation between Mulhall and Kilfoyl at the jail after the former was arrested.

Robert McKenna, another witness, said that he did not know who had planned the robbery, he did not join the party until the latter part of the afternoon. The robbery was committed that evening. Thomas Mulhall testified that he was beaten and injured at Skinner's house. He was attacked by Johns and lost his pistol. He left the house and came towards Cleveland and overtook Butterfield on the tow path. They came on together and they then separated on the Commercial st. bridge. Every day the courtroom is thronged with spectators and the progress of the trial is watched with the keenest interest. Superintendent Mckinstry, whose integrity and faithfulness both as an officer and citi​zen are badly compromised by the uncontradicted evidence of the Malhall's is in constant attendance. He occupies a seat near the pris​oner and the counsel. It is expected that the evidence will be completed today.

1234 - 1. June 12:413.5 - The trial of Kilfoyl was resumed yesterday morning. John Kilfoyl testified as follows: I first knew of a plan to rob some place in the country about three weeks before the Skinner affair. Tom Mulhall told me that he bad been not in the country to do a job and that he suspected that a murder had been committed. He asked me if I could keep his name out if he gave me the names of the others. I told him that I would and he gave me the names of Davis, Butterfield. Folliott, and McKenna. Mulhall knew I was working for McKinstry.

The next morning I reported to McKinstry what Mulhall had told we. I did not give Mulhull's name until he left town.

John Odell, the next witness called, testified that he has been in the detective business for nearly 20 years. There are secret detectives and public detectives. Odell explained a secret detective does not generally appear as a witness and does not make arrests. Odell stated that be knew nothing about Kilfoyl being a secret detective, but had acted upon information given by him. Detective Officer Samuel W. Rowe testified that he did not know anyLbi:,g of McKinatry'a appointments of secret detectives. He then explained Briefly how he brought Mulhall to We city and bow Butterfield, llchenna, and Davis were arrested.

Joseph Hattersley testified that he did not remember selling Kilfoyl a fuse.
(55)

1235 - L June 15:4/3,4 - The court reopened yesterday at nine a.m. The first witness called was James McKinstry, son of the superintendent of police. The witness stated that the first he had heard of the murder of David Skinner was the morning after the crime. He and his father spent the day in Rockport. returning at five p.m. Mackey came to see his rather. After he had left his father told him Mackey had given McKinstry three names of members of the party and he hoped to have them all arrested in 24 hours.

U. W. McIntyre. W. R. Simmons, Gen. M. Barlow, and Samuel Purnell were all sworn in, they testified that Kilfoyl was known as a common thief and pickpocket.

Several witnesses were called on the part of the state in the after-moon to testify to the reputation of Kilfoyl. They all agreed that he Is known to police as n suspicious character and an associate of

thieves. The testimony then closed.
(40)

1236 - L June 17:4/4 - A larger crowd of spectators than there has been for several previous days assembled in the criminal court room yester​day morning to witness the proceedings in the Kilfoyl trial.

After the conclusion of Jones' speech, the judge read a comprehen​sive charge to the jury, setting forth points to he passed upon. After ss absence of exceedingly few minutes, the jury returned a verdict of "guilty."
(3)

1231
L July 10:4/2 - Thomas Mulhall. who was convicted of aiding and abetting murder in the first degree, was sentenced yesterday by judge Psine to be hanged on Aug. 20.

John Kilfoyl, who was an accessory in the plot to rob Skinner's house, was sentenced to 15 years in the penitentiary by judge Paine.
(31)

1244 - L Dec. 4:4/3 - Yesterday at two p.m., the prisoners, John Butterfield and Robert McKenna, were brought before Judge Paine and received their sentence for complicity in the murder of David Skinner. In ren​dering the verdict Judge Paine said, You have been indicted for an assault with intent to kill and rob David Skinner; and for reasons which have appeared sufficient to the authorities interested in the adminis​tration of the criminal law, you have been permitted to plead guilty to the lesser of the two offenses, and you have availed yourself of this offer, and plead guilty to the charge of assaulting said Skinner with intent to rob....

"It is the judgment of the court that you be taken from the bar of the court to the jail of the county, and that you be from there taken to the penitentiary of the state, and that you be therein confined and kept at hard labor for the period of five years, and you pay the coats of this prosecution.”
CLEVELAND LEADER Mar. 14/1871:1;9 - When William Folliott was arraigned on the charge of murder, many persons sympathized with him. There was several present who knew him from infancy. He pleaded guilty to two charges, and Judge Prentiss sentenced him to 15 years in prison yesterday.

Census:  

Genealogy:

Accused 1: 

Lewis Davis 



Ethnicity:



Race:


w
Gender: 

m


Age: 


26
Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation:

blacksmith – owned his own shop & had at least 1 employee
Town:


Cleveland
Birthplace:

b. Cleveland
Religion:



Organizations:



Accused 2: 

John Butterfield


Ethnicity:



Race:


w
Gender: 

m


Age: 


26
Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation:



Town:


Cleveland
one of the city’s “roughs,” has lived there 12 yrs.


Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Accused 3: 

Robert McKanna



Ethnicity:



Race:


w
Gender: 

m


Age: 


20
Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation:



Town:


[Cleveland]
Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Accused 4:  

Thomas Mulhall

Ethnicity:

[Irish]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


24

Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation:



Town:


Cleveland
Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Accused 5:  

John Kilfoyl


Ethnicity:

[Irish]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


24

Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation:



Town:


[Cleveland]
Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Accused 6:  

William Folliott

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

68”
150 lbs.

Age:


26

Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation:

brewer – works for his father

Town:


Cleveland

Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Victim: 

David L. Skinner 



Ethnicity:



Race:


w
Gender: 

m



Age:


adult
Literate:



Marital Status: 
m



Children: 

yes
Occupation: 

milkman


Town:


Independence



Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:


1868, Sept. 28




Cleveland, CUY

P

INQ
Class:   certain
Crime: HOM
Rela:   TAVERN PROPRIETOR by CUSTOMERS (STRANGERS)   

Motive: QUARREL / revenge for throwing them out
Intox?:  yes, assailant
Day of  week:  M
Holiday?:
no


Time of day:
2am
Days to death:  0

HOM:  James English (aided and abetted by John Whitmore, James O’Malia, and Patrick Simmons) m. James Hoban (and aik on Mary Hoban, JH’s wife)

Weapon: KNIFE 


Circumstances: JAMES ENGLISH AND JOHN WHITMORE FOUGHT WITH JAMES HOBAN AND HIS WIFE, KILLING HOBAN AND INJURING HIS WIFE MARY. 


Inquest:  555:  HOBAN, JAMES  i.d. 9/28/1868   MURDERED 


Indictment: ENGLISH AND WHITMORE ARE ACCUSED OF MURDER.  


Term: 


Court proceedings: A JURY AT THE INITIAL PROCEEDINGS FELT THAT ENGLISH WAS THE KILLER.  2 MORE MEN, JAMES O’MALIA AND PATRICK  SIMMONS WERE ARRESTED AS WELL.  THE JURY FOUND JAMES ENGLISH GUILTY OF MURDER IN THE SECOND DEGREE.  WHITMORE AND O’MALIA WERE SENTENCED TO 2 YEARS IN THE PENITENTIARY APIECE, WHILE ENGLISH WAS SENTENCED TO SPEND THE REST OF HIS NATURAL LIFE IN JAIL.
Legal Records:  

Cuyahoga Co. inquest 555
Newspaper:  

1700 - L Sept. 30:4/4,5 - James Hoban, 28, and his wife Mary, 24, keep a saloon at 50 Main St. At two a.m. yesterday two sailors, James English and John Whitmore, started a fight in the saloon, and were ejected by the owner. They entered the saloon a little later, and it is alleged that English stabbed Hoban six times and his wife once.  A Mr. Cunningham and his family, who were attracted by the cries, assisted the wounded, and did everything possible for their relief.  Dr. Strong pronounced the wounds serious.  Sergeants Goodrich and Burlison, with a force of men, captured English and Whitmore on Main St.  On the way to jail a large crowd gathered around the policemen and their prisoners. The crowd wanted to hang the two men, but the police locked them safely in jail.


1702- L Oct. 1:4/5 - James Hoban, victim of the Main St. tragedy, died yesterday morning.  Coroner Schenck impaneled a jury, and held an in​quest.  James O'Malley of 14 Main St., Jane Holland, and John Whitmore testified in the case.  Whitmore was brought before the jury first.  He professes to have been sober at the time of the affray, and to remember all that took place.  He apparently tells a straight story.  James English of 14 Main St. was brought in, and testified as follows: My name is James English.  I am an Englishman, and have been in this city about a fortnight.  I am a sailor...I know nothing about the fight at Hoban's."  The jury returned the following verdict: "The deceased came to his death by violence received at the hands James English on the night of Sept. 28, 1868."

1703 - L Oct. 1:4/6 - Mrs. Hoban, victim of the Main St.  stabbing, was about the house today, although her condition is still considered serious.
1704 - L Oct. 2:4/3 - James O'Malia and Patrick Simmons were arrested here on Sept. 30,  as suspects in the stabbing of Mr. and Mrs. James Hoban.
1705 - L Oct. 3:4/4 - James English and John Whitmore, charged with having murdered James Hoban on Sept. 29, were arraigned in police court yesterday.  M. S. Castle and A. T. Slade represented the defendants.  Sarah Waterbury, William Waterbury, and Patrick Simmons were sworn in as witnesses.  Both prisoners were bound over for trial in common pleas court.
1706 - L Oct. 5:4/3 - Mrs. Hoban, victim of the stabbing tragedy, is in serious condition.  She has been removed to the house of Patrick Welch Detroit St.

1708 - L Oct. 12:1/9 - James O'Malia, charged with being concerned in the stabbing of James Hoban, will be examined today by Judge Tilden.

1723 - L Nov. 28:4/4 - On account of a legal technicality, the Hoban murder trial has been postponed to Nov. 30. James English was identified as the man who stabbed Hoban.  English and Whitmore were both indicted for murder in the first degree.

1727 - L Dec. 1:4/3 - The trial of James English, which was postponed from Nov. 27 because of a technicality in the venue, objected to by the defense, was resumed yesterday, with Judge Prentiss presiding.  Such interest as is always attached to the trial of a man for his life was manifested in this case. There was a fair attendance of spectators.  After hearing the case, the jury deliberated about eight or ten minutes, then returned a verdict of not guilty of murder in the first degree as charged in the indictment, but guilty of murder in the second degree.  The jury was discharged and the prisoner remanded to jail to await sentence.

1732 - L Dec. 11:4/4 - John Whitmore was on trial yesterday in the crimi​nal branch of the common pleas court on the charge of being implicated in the murder of James Hoban last August.

1734 - L Dec. 29:4/5 - James English, indicted for murder in the first degree for the killing of James Hoban about three months ago, pleaded guilty to murder in the second degree yesterday.  This plea was accepted by the state.  Judge Prentiss sentenced him to be confined to hard labor during the period of his natural life in the penitentiary at Columbus.  John Whitmore, the associate of English, was convicted of manslaughter.  James O'Malia, the third person connected with this murder, was con​victed of aiding and abetting manslaughter.  His attorney, W. Palmer, Esq., addressed the court briefly in his behalf, urging his previous good character and his deformity (he is a hump-backed dwarf) as commending him to judicial clemency.  The judge said he could make no distinction between him and Whitmore and sentenced O'Malia to two years in the peni​tentiary.


Census:  

Genealogy:

Accused 1: 

JAMES ENGLISH


Ethnicity:

English
Race:


w
Gender: 

m



Age:


adult
Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation: 

SAILOR


Town: 


transient



Birthplace:

b. England
Religion:



Organizations:



Accused 2: 

JOHN WHITMORE
Ethnicity:



Race:


w
Gender: 

m



Age:


adult
Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation: 

SAILORS



Town: 







Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Accused 3: 

JAMES O’MALIA



Ethnicity:

[Irish]
Race:


w
Gender: 

m



Age:


adult
Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation: 

SAILORS



Town: 







Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Victim: 

JAMES HOBAN 



Ethnicity:

[Irish]
Race:


w
Gender: 

m


Age: 


28
Literate:



Marital Status:
 
m. Mary


Children:



Occupation: 

BAR OWNER



Town: 


CLEVELAND




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:


1868, Oct. 25





Cleveland, CUY

P

INQ
Class:  certain
Crime:  HOM MANSLAUGHTER

Rela:    TAVERN to STREET CUSTOMER by CUSTOMERS (FRIENDS)
Motive: QUARREL
Intox?:  yes, victim and assailants
Day of week:
Sun
Holiday?:
no
Time of day:
night
Days to death:  0

HOM:  Thomas Hart and Martin McGraw m. Thomas Deider

Weapon:  iron bar [blunt] over head.  d. next morning.

Circumstances: THOMAS DEIDER WAS STRUCK ON THE HEAD WITH AN IRON BAR BY THOMAS HART AND MARTIN MCGRAW. 


Inquest:  557:  DEIDER, THOMAS   i.d. 10/25/1868   MURDER 


Indictment: MARTIN MCGRAW IS INDICTED WITH MANSLAUGHTER.  MCGRAW IS HELD FOR $2,000 BAIL AND HART FOR $500 BAIL. 


Term: 


Court proceedings:  
Legal Records:  

Cuyahoga Co. inquest 557
Newspaper:  

1709 - L Oct. 26:4/4 - On the night of Oct. 25 three young men, Thomas Deider, Thomas Hart, and Martin McGraw, went to Kuhn's saloon at 539S Clair St., and became intoxicated.  When they left the saloon, they engaged in an argument and Deider was struck on the head with an iron bar, which resulted in his death the next morning.  The wife and a baby, which was christened only a week ago, survive. Deider was a journeyman shoemaker, and was employed at the store of Smith and Dodd.  Detective Schmitt arrested the two men.  The coroner's inquest will be held this morning.

1710 - L Oct. 27:4/4 - Yesterday morning a coroner's inquest was held in the court room on the homicide of young Deider, who was killed on Oct 23 by a drunken comrade. A jury of six men was sworn in.

Prosecuting Attorney J. M. Jones and his assistant, H. B. DeWolf, ex​amined the witnesses.

The following verdict was rendered by the jury: Deceased came to his death in consequence of a blow received on his head with a scantling wielded by Martin McGraw.

1711 – L Oct. 31:4/5 - The cases of Martin McGraw and Thomas Hart, charged with ​ killing Thomas Deider on Oct. 25, were brought up yesterday.  Both waived examination.  M.S. Castle, Esq., was counsel for McGraw, and E. M. Brown, Esq., for Hart.  McGraw was held in the sum of $2,000 and Hart in $500 for their appearance at the court of common pleas.

1712 -  L Nov. 3:4/3 - Sheriff Nicola states that Martin McGraw, bound over to the court of common pleas upon the charge of manslaughter, has jumped his bail" of $2,000 and left the city.

1713 -  L Nov. 5:4/3 - McGraw, charged with the murder of Deider, reports personally at this office that he has not "jumped his bail."  Yesterdav morning McGraw was surrendered to the authorities by the man who was security for his bail, and is now in jail.
Census:  

Genealogy:  
Accused:

 MARTIN MCGRAW AND THOMAS HART 



Ethnicity:

[Irish]
Race:


w
Gender: 

m


Age:


adult
Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation:



Town:


CLEVELAND



Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Victim: 

Thomas Deider 



Ethnicity:

German
Race:


w
Gender: 

m



Age:


adult
Literate:



Marital Status:

m


Children: 

1 infant child


Occupation: 

journeyman shoemaker



Town:


Cleveland
Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:




1869, May 31







Berea, CUY

P

Class:   certain
Crime:   HOM

Rela:    SPOUSE WIFE by HUSBAND

Motive:  POSSESSIVE / ESTRANGED or MENTAL ILLNESS
Intox?:  

Day of week:
M
Holiday?:
no


Time of day:
10pm

Days to death:  1

HOM:  James H. Brown m. ___ Brown (his wife)


Weapon:  revolver [handgun].  d the following day.

Circumstances: argument   

Inquest:  


Indictment:  


Term: 


Court proceedings:  Trial Nov30-Dec6  Found guilty of murder in 2nd degree
Legal Records:  

Newspaper:  


Cleveland Leader 1869


1230
L June 1:1/8 - Yesterday at about ten p.m. a singular tragedy occurred in the village of Berea. A men named James H. Brown shot his wife with a revolver. Immediately after the affair Brown gave himself up to the authorities.  It is claimed by his friends that he is partially insane, and he is said to have remarked to one of the attaches of the jail that he had intended to kill his wife and was willing to die for it.

1231 - L June 4:4/4 . Our readers are familiar with the circumstances connected with the terrible tragedy at Berea, which resulted in the death of Mrs. Brown the following day. Brown was committed to jail in this city by Justice Wallace of Berea. The preliminary hearing upon this charge was set for yesterday before judge Kolbe. but the prisoner waived an examination.

To avoid holding the prisoner in jail all summer, a special grand jury was impaneled. After a brief hearing Brown was charged with murder in the first degree. He pleaded not guilty, and as he had no money. Gen. G. M. Barber was assigned for the defense. It is expected that the case will be brought up for trial within a few days. When Brown was informed of the death of his wife he manifested no surprise. He said he was very sorry for having killed her.

1242 L Nov. 30:4/3.4 - On May 31 a singular tragedy occurred in the village of Berea. A man named James H. Brown shot his wife with a revolver. Immediately after the affair, Brown gave himself up to the police.  The case was called yesterday morning and the forenoon was consumed in getting a jury. The entire panel of 36 men, drawn for special jurors, was exhausted and talesmen were required to complete the list. At 12 o'clock the court adjourned 'till two o'clock.

After the jury had been properly qualified, the case was opened on the part of the state by J. M. Jones in a brief statement of the case. On the part of the defense, Gen. G. M. Barber said that it was with regret and sorrow that it became his duty to appear in this case. He intended to show that insanity was hereditary in the family of the prisoner; that his grandmother was insane the greater part of her life. The defense proposed to show that the murder was committed while the prisoner was in a state of mind that rendered him unaccountable to the law for the acts then committed. At the conclusion of the general's remarks, Jones read the agreement of facts, which covers nearly the whole ground to be ad​mitted as evidence by both sides. At this point the court adjourned till today.

The prisoner is a small, wiry man of perhaps 40 years of age, with a quick nervous motion. His attorneys are gentlemen, eminent in the pro​fession. and will spare no effort to effect the acquittal of the prisoner.  "Its horrid reality and ghastly detail equals the great Davis trial S today we expect the criminal court room will be crowded to suffocation."
(45)

1243 L Dec. 4:2,/6-8 - The testimonials in the trial of James It. Brown all say that after Mrs. Brown left her husband there was a marked change is his. He appeared to be on the verge of insanity. Some of the wit​nesses who testified yesterday had not noticed any indication of en​mity.  Dr. O. C. Kendrick was recalled. He conversed with Brown in regard to the shooting; he was calm, deliberate, and concise in conversation and exhibited no incoherency. He noticed a quickness of pulse and a dilation of the pupils of the eyes, but both might be explained by dark​ness of the room and a disturbed state of mind.  The arguments of the prosecution were the first business of the after

Census:  

Genealogy:

Accused: 

James H Brown  



Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


[40]
about 40

Literate:



Marital Status:  
married, estranged

Children:



Occupation:



Town:


Berea

Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Victim:  

Mrs. Brown

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

f

Age:


adult

Literate:



Marital Status:

m. James H., estranged

Children:



Occupation:



Town:


Berea

Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



1869, Aug.





Cleveland, CUY
INQ
P
Class:    certain
Crime:   HOM
Rela:    NONDOM
Motive:  PROPERTY / argument over pin

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  [30]

HOM:  William Thompson m. Maria Starks

Weapon:  kicked, beaten [phys].  d. of lockjaw.

Circumstances:  argument over pin which belonged to MS.  MS threatened WT with a razor, & WT pounded her.

Inquest:  582   Starks, Mana                         9-8-1869      lockjaw


Indictment:  


Term: 


Court proceedings:  
Legal Records:  


Cuyahoga Co. inquest 582

Newspaper:  


Cleveland Leader Aug 11 1869

1239 - L Aug. II:I/8 - Maria Starks, a negro woman who lived on Fourth St., died of lockjaw resulting from injuries sustained when she was beaten about a month ago by William Thompson.
The beating was witnessed by Kittle Lucas, who testified that she and Maria Starks sent to Thompson's room to claim a pin which belonged to Maria Starks. When Thompson refused to return the pin, Maria Starks drew a razor and threatened to kill him, whereupon Thompson knocked her down and kicked her.


Dr. Proctor Thayer and Dr. Williams testified as to the extent of the
woman's injuries and the probable cause of death.
Census:  

Genealogy:

Accused: 

William Thompson  



Ethnicity:



Race:




Gender:

m
Age:


adult
Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Victim:  

Maria Starks

Ethnicity:



Race:


b
Gender:

f
Age:


adult
Literate:



Marital Status:



Children:



Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



1869, [Aug.]




East Cleveland, CUY
INQ
Class of death:   probable
Class of crime:   HOM
Relationship:    [NONDOM]
Motive:  
UNK
Intoxication?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:


Time of day:


Days until death:  [0]

SUSPECT(s):


VICTIM(s):
unknown person

Cause of death:  [phys]

Circumstances:   found on 9/11 on the lake shore near the premises of James Fitch.  Had been in the water about 2 weeks.

Inquest:   i.d. 9/12/1869.  David Hawks, coroner.  Verdict:  “by the hands of some person or persons unknown to this jury.  The feet of the body aforesaid had been securely tied with two white handkerchiefs.  Another handkerchief was found tied around one of the wrists.  No marks of violence were found on the body.  The body was much decomposed.

Indictment:  


Term of court:  

Court proceedings:  

Legal records:  

Cuyahoga County inquest 587

[NOTE:  description of the body photographed – the next page is missing, so the description breaks off at the end of the page]

Newspapers:
Other sources:  
Census:  
Genealogy:  

Suspect:  

___
Ethnicity:



Race:




Gender:



Age:




Phys char:



Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Personal history:  


Victim:  

___
Ethnicity:



Race:


[w]
Gender:

m
Age:


adult
Phys char:



68” or 69”
Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Personal history:  


1869, Nov. 15






Newburgh, CUY
INQ
P

Class:    certain
Crime:   HOM
Rela:    NONDOM
Motive:  FEUD – CF insisted on going through FG’s farm
Intox?:  

Day of week:
M
Holiday?:
no
Time of day:
daytime
Days to death:  0

HOM:  Charles Feller m. Ferdinand Gesser  

Weapon:  ax.  d. 10 pm.

Circumstances:  argument about CF tresspassing on FG’s farm

Inquest:  595   Bieser, Ferdinand                    11-15-1869   murder


Indictment?  murder

Term?:  12/1869

Court proceedings:  Court Dec10-15  prisoner acquitted 
Legal Records:  

595   Bieser, Ferdinand                    11-15-1869   murder
Newspaper:


Cleveland Leader Nov 17 1869

1241 - L Nov. 17:4/3 - On Nov. 15 an encounter took place between two residents of Newburgh. which resulted in the death of one. The names of the parties are Charles Feller and Ferdinand Besser. The latter, who was killed, was a hard working German about 53 years old. Charles Feller, also a German has a reputation of being quick tempered and completely ungovernable when aroused. A feud had existed for a long time between the two. Feller insisted on going through Mr. Besser's farm, in spite of his remonstrations. A warm dispute arose between them, from words they went to blows. A heavy blow with an ax was aimed at Besser's head and felled him. It was not thought the blow was fatal. Shortly after it. Besser went about his farm, milked his cows, and attended to other matters. Soon after supper, he began to feel the effects of the blow. Medical aid was procured, but it was of no avail. At ten o'clock, after a short struggle be died. Feller was immediately arrested to answer to a charge of manslaughter. A coroner's jury was held yesterday and rendered a verdict in accordance with the above facts.

1246 - L Dec. 10:4/4 - Yesterday morning the case of the state of Ohio vs. Charles Feller was taken up in the court of common pleas before Judge Paine. J. It. Jones, prosecuting attorney, and John W. Heisley appeared for the prosecution; R. J. Christy and Judge R. P. Raney for the defense. The case was opened on the part of Jones, who stated in substance what the state expected to prove concerning the death of Besser.

Mrs. Besser, wife of the deceased, was the first to testify. She said her husband and Feller had been quarreling for the last three years be-cause Feller always crossed Besser's property as a short cut home. On Nov. 15 Besser came home covered with blood. He said Feller knocked him down with a club, sat on him, and hit him on the throat. He died five or ten minutes before ten the same evening.

Doctor It. L. Brooks was sworn in. He testified that when he examined the deceased he found two wounds on the head; one was a cut over the eye, and the other a lacerated wound on top of the head. The head seemed more or less bruised. A blood vessel within an inch of the wound on the head was ruptured; death was caused by a clot of blood on the brain.

The court adjourned until this morning. The prisoner is a German perhaps 35 years of age, a mild, inoffensive looking man with no ap​pearance of a murderer. During the process of the trial he sat close beside his attorneys, and would occasionally prompt them to some inquiry bearing upon the case. He seemed to take a deep interest in all that was done.



1247
L Dec. 15:1/8 - The testimony in the case of the state vs. Charles Feller for the murder of Ferdinand Besser, near the five mile lock, closed Dec. 13 at four o'clock.

J. H. Peisley, for the prosecution, made the first argument in the case. In a forcible and argumentative way, he reviewed the case and claimed that upon the testimony produced by the state, the jury must find the defendant guilty as charged in the indictment.

He was followed by R. J. Christy, for the defendant, who stated that the life of a citizen had been taken. Justly or unjustly, suspicion rested upon Feller. After carefully reviewing the whole testimony in the case, he claimed that the case was clearly one of self defense, and that the act was one of complete justification and should be commended rather than condemned.

The case went to the jury at three o'clock and about ten o'clock the 
jury brought in a verdict of acquittal

Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused :  

Charles Feller  



Ethnicity:

German



Race:


w


Gender:

m



Age:


35



Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


Newburgh
Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim : 

Ferdinand Gesser  



Ethnicity:

German 


Race:


w
Gender:

m


Age:


50


Literate:




Marital Status:

m
Children:




Occupation:

farmer

Town:


Newburgh
Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1869, Dec.




Cleveland, CUY
INQ
Class of death:   uncertain
Class of crime:   probable CAS POI or SUI POI, but possible HOM POI
Relationship:    
Motive:  

Intoxication?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:


Time of day:


Days until death:  


SUSPECT(s):


VICTIM(s):
Kate Touhey

Cause of death:  


Circumstances:   found at 136 Bolivar St.

Inquest:   i.d. 12/18/1869.  J. C. Schenck, coroner.  Verdict:  “by poison, which she received in unknown manner.”

Indictment:  


Term of court:  

Court proceedings:  

Legal records:  

Cuyahoga County inquest 596
Newspapers:
Other sources:  
Census:  
Genealogy:  

Suspect:  



Ethnicity:



Race:




Gender:



Age:




Phys char:



Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Personal history:  


Victim:  

Kate Touhey
Ethnicity:

[Irish]
Race:


w
Gender:

f
Age:


adult
Phys char:



Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Personal history:  


1870, Jan.




Cleveland, CUY
INQ
Class of death:   do not count
Class of crime:   probably CAS POI or NAT
Relationship:    
Motive:  

Intoxication?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:


Time of day:


Days until death:  


SUSPECT(s):


VICTIM(s):
John Guld

Cause of death:  


Circumstances:   works for a gang at the Atlantic depot.  Took sick one day, laid down, soon died.  No evidence of foul play.

Inquest:   i.d. 1/24/1870.  J. B. Schenck, coroner.  Verdict:  poison.  “by some ___ [illeg] substance taken  into his stomach and the manner whether accidental or otherwise is unknown.” 

Indictment:  


Term of court:  

Court proceedings:  

Legal records:  

Cuyahoga County inquest 600

Newspapers:
Other sources:  
Census:  
Genealogy:  

Suspect:  



Ethnicity:



Race:




Gender:



Age:




Phys char:



Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Personal history:  


Victim:  



Ethnicity:



Race:




Gender:



Age:




Phys char:



Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Personal history:  


1870, Mar. 20




Cleveland, CUY

INQ

DATE:  police captain says he was apprised of the stabbing at 9pm on Sunday evening; physician said victim was admitted 1:30am on Sunday morning;   -- don’t mesh.

Class:   probable

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    TAVERN CUSTOMER by CUSTOMER (or HOUSEHOLD BOARDER by LANDLORD0

Motive:  QUARREL over a CARD GAME

Intox?:  prob v & a

Day of week:
Sun

Holiday?:
no


Time of day:
9pm

Days to death:  6


HOM:  ___ Vinoins [sp?] [or Finster] m. Ferdinand Rafali


Weapon:  [knife, sharp]  Died at the Charity Hospital in Cleveland.


Circumstances:  brought to the Charity Hospital at 1:30 am on Sunday “a week ago,” “bleeding profusely” from wound to belly.


Inquest:  604 Ferdinand Rafali:  i.d. 3/29/1870, J. B. Schenck, coroner.  Verdict:  stabbing.  “by Peritonitis caused by a stab received from the hands of Finster [sp?], a man keeping a boarding house 41 Wood St., Cleveland


Indictment:  


Term: 


Court proceedings:  
Legal Records:  


604 Ferdinand Rafali:  i.d. 3/29/1870:  stabbing

Newspaper:  

Census:  

Genealogy:

Accused:  

___ Finster

Ethnicity:

Italian

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation:

boarding house keeper

Town:


41 Wood St.

Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Victim:  

Ferdinand Rafali

Ethnicity:

[Italian]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:



Marital Status:



Children:



Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



1870, June




Cleveland, CUY

INQ

P
Class:   certain
Crime:   HOM
Rela:    NONDOM
Motive:  UNK
Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


HOM:  Thomas [Tom] Day m. George Tony

Weapon:  [sharp]

Circumstances:  


Inquest:  613:  i.d. 6/19/1870.  J. B. Schenck, coroner.  Found at 413 Broadway.  Verdict:  murdered.  “by a cut received from the hands of Tom Day.”

Indictment:  


Term: 


Court proceedings:  fG m-2.  LIFE
Legal Records:  


613:  i.d. 6/19/1870:  murdered
Newspaper:  

2176:  Cleveland Leader, 7/4/1870: 4/4:  “Thomas Day, recently convicted of murder in the second degree, was sentenced to the penitentiary for life on July 2.  He was convicted of one of the blackest crimes known to our law.”

Census:  

Genealogy:

Accused:  

Tom Day
Ethnicity:



Race:


w
Gender:

m
Age:


adult
Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Victim:  

George Tony
Ethnicity:



Race:


w
Gender:

m
Age:


adult
Literate:



Marital Status:



Children:



Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



1870, Aug.




East Cleveland, CUY

P

INQ
Class:   uncertain
Crime:   HOM

Rela:    SPOUSE WIFE by HUSBAND

Motive:  ABUSE

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


HOM:  ___ Marcer suspected of m. Jane Marcer (his wife)


Weapon:  bruises [phys]

Circumstances:  


Inquest:  verdict:  general debility.  Coroner J. B. Schenck.  625:  i.d. 8/26/1870:  “by disease.”

Indictment:  


Term: 


Court proceedings:  
Legal Records:  


625:   i.d. 8/26/1870:  disease

Newspaper:  

Cleveland Leader 8/30/1870: 4/4:  “Jane Marcer of East Cleveland passed away and was buried during the early part of last week.  She had been sick for some time and had various attending physicians, but to no avail.  Death was considered quite sudden by the neighbors and it was believed that death was caused by the brutal treatment of the husband.  Coroner Schenck was called upon to hold an inquest and a post mortem examination of the body.  The results of this inquiry revealed no facts which confirmed the prevailing suspicions.  Bruises that were found on the body were not sufficient to cause death.l  The verdict rendered was the Mrs. Marcer met death due to general debility.


Marcer says he will institute a suit against the coroner and jurors who sat in the case.  We have reason to believe that, after having considered the case, he will conclude that Schenck and the jurors were right.”

Census:  

Genealogy:

Accused:  

___ Marcer

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:



Marital Status:  
m. Jane

Children:



Occupation:



Town:


East Cleveland

Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Victim:  

Jane Marcer

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

f

Age:


adult

Literate:



Marital Status:

m

Children:



Occupation:



Town:


East Cleveland

Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



1870, Sept. [14]




Cleveland, CUY

INQ

P

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    SPOUSE WIFE by HUSBAND
Motive:  UNK
Intox?:  

Day of week:
W
Holiday?:
no


Time of day:
afternoon
Days to death:  [5]

HOM:  William Flook [Fluke] suspected of m. Catherine Flook [Fluke]

Weapon:  [phys]

Circumstances:  exhumed from West Side Cemetery on 9/20.  Post-morten exam made on 9/19.

Inquest:  628:  i.d. 9/20/1870.  J. C. Schenck, coroner.  Verdict:  murdered.  “by injuries received at the hands of Wm Flook.”

Indictment:  


Term: 


Court proceedings:  discharged after examination
Legal Records:  


628:  i.d. 9/20/1870:  murdered

Newspaper:  

2197:  Cleveland Leader 11/14/1870:  4/5:  The case of Fluke, charged with the murder of his wife, has been examined.  He has been discharged.
Census:  

Genealogy:

Accused:  

___ Fluck
Ethnicity:

[German]
Race:


[w]
Gender:

m
Age:


adult
Literate:



Marital Status:  
m. Catherine
Children:



Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Victim:  

Catherine Flook [Fluke]
Ethnicity:

[German]
Race:


[w]
Gender:

f
Age:


adult
Literate:

35 to 40

Marital Status:

m
Children:



Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



1870, Sept. 25






       Cleveland, CUY
P
INQ
Class:   certain

Crime:  HOM
Rela:    SPOUSE COMMON-LAW WIFE by HUSBAND
Motive:  POSSESSIVE / ESTRANGED
Intox?:  

Day of week:
Sun
Holiday?:
no
Time of day:
night
Days to death:  [11]

HOM:  William Schallenberg m. Anna Kading Schallenburg (his wife)

Weapon:  revolver [handgun]:  2 shots to her face

Circumstances:  Schallenberg married a prostitute who he accused of being unfaithful and instead of divorcing her he killed her.  Met her on Clark Ave. and after a few words shot her.  His “pretend wife.”

Inquest:  632:  i.d. 10/6/1870:  murdered

Indictment?  murder

Term?:  11/1870

Court proceedings:  Schallenberg found guilty and sentenced to hang, then later to life in prison.
Legal Records:  

632:  i.d. 10/6/1870:  murdered
Newspaper:
Cleveland Leader 9/27/1870: 4/4:  “On Sept. 25 William Schallenburg met his wife on Clark Ave., and after a few words he drew a revolver and fired two shots, each taking effect in her face.  The husband fled from the spot after the shooting, and left the woman screaming with fear and pain.

It is not expected that the deceased will live longer than to-day.  The immediate cause of the shooting is not known, and will always remain a secret, unless the murderer himself clears it up by a confession.”

Cleveland Leader 9/28/1870: 1/7:  WS, “who shot his wife on Sept. 25, was arrested yesterday by Officers Cushman, Koch, Hagerty, and Grattan, and is now in city prison.  He claimed that his wife passed three or four days a week in houses of prostitution.  On the night of the tragedy, he related, she was in the company of another man and he endeavored to persuade her to go home.  This she not only refused to do, but assaulted him with blows and kicks, and, in the excitement of the moment, he drew a revolver and fired two shots at her.”

2195:  Cleveland Leader 11/11/1870:  4/4:  WS, “charged with shooting his pretended wife, Anna Kading, a few weeks ago, was indicted for first degree murder by the grand jury yesterday.

2202:  Cleveland Leader 12/8/1870:  4/4:  The case of WS indicted at the last term of the grand jury for murder in the first degree, was called yesterday morning in the common pleas court before Judge Paine.


Dr. Schenck, Dr. W. H. Carter and Dr. Wintrich all testified that she came to her death by the shots fired from her husband’s revolver.


John Shulte was next sworn and he stated that two weeks before the shooting Schallenburg came ot his house and said that if his wife would not stay with him he would shoot her and kill himself too.


Elizabeth Kading next sworn and she also stated that Schallenburg said he would shoot his wife if she wound not live with him.

2203:  Cleveland Leader 12/9/1870:  4/4,5:  The second day of the S trail passed yesterday.  The prisoner, during the trial, seemed undisturbed and calm, listening to the evidence.


Seventeen persons were sworn and they stated how long they had known S and what they knew about him.


Then William Schallenburg was sworn.  He related his wife’s conduct during the two weeks before the shooting, tracing all her actions up to the night of Sept. 25, when, as has often been related, he said he saw her in company with two men and shot her, he could not remember how many times.  Then, the prisoner said, he lay down on the ground and took her in his arms, trying to console her.  He heard the steps of persons coming and fled, stopping at a short distance and cocking his revolver to shoot himself and finally changing his mind.  An hour later he went to her window and through the thin curtain saw her lying on a lounge.


At this point the court adjourned.

2204:  Cleveland Leader 12/10/1870:  1/3,4:  Third day’s proceedings of the S trail.


William Kenney and J. W. Myers were both sworn and they said they had known S for quite a while and they also said that the defendant’s reputation has been rather bad in regard to visiting houses of ill-fame.


In the afternoon E. P. Slade proceeded with his remarks to the jury, and explained to them what constituted murder in the first, second, and third degrees.


He then closed his remarks about five o’clock when J. W. Towner opened for the defense.  At the conclusion of Mr. Towner’s remarks, the court adjourned until this morning.

2205:  Cleveland Leader 12/12/1870: 4/4,5:  The S murder trial was concluded today, and the jury, after adjourning from 5:30 to 10:30 p.m., brought in a verdict of guilty of first degree murder.  It is believed everywhere that S was guilty of the willful killing of Anna Kading, his pretended wife; that the act was committed without any previous provocation, and that the full penalty of the law should be meted out to him.

2206:  Cleveland Leader 12/15/1870:  4/3:  The city council, on Dec. 12, accepted a report form the city attorney stating that Dr. Charles Wintrich had no claims on the city from more than one visit made to Anna Schallenburg Kading when she lay bleeding from the wounds inflicted by her husband.  The doctor was called by Sergeant Jones to attend her, and after one visit, the law says, the case should have been handed over to the proper medical officer of the city or to friends of the injured woman.
LEADER Feb. 2 1871:4/4,5 - William Schallenberg was sentenced yesterday by Judge Paine to be hanged for the murder a few months ago of his wife. He was married in Washington, D. C. 15 years ago, but jealousy occurred between him and his first wife and they separated. Schallenberg then came to Cleveland, where he made the acquaintance of a prostitute and married her. She remained faithful for a time, but soon fell back to her old ways. He accused her of infidelity, and she defied him by continuous visits to defamed houses. He did not attempt to obtain a divorce, hut killed her last August in a back street. His execution is to occur May 18.


LEADER Feb. 3:2/4
In a letter to the editor, "H" says: The injustice of the laws of today is obvious. Because William Schallenberg was poor, ignorant, and knew nobody, he was sentenced to death for the slaying of his wife. The more polished Galentine, who is educated and well informed about the law, shoots his victims with malice purposely, deliberately, and premeditatedly, and is found guilty only of manslaughter. What a mockery of all our notions of justice! Is not the law equal? Is it not for all? Why should not that justice which is meted out to one man be sufficient for his fellow man? Oh, what a farce is this test of guilt by a jury of one's peers!

LEADER Feb. 9:2/3,4 - In a letter to the editor, "L. H." says: In my opinion, society's punishment of its offenders is not always just. In the case of Dr. Jay F. Galentine strict justice tempered with mercy has hen rendered. With his education, social position. and refinement, does lot the severity of the penalty consist of something more than the hard-Cps of confinement in prison?

In the case of William Schallenberg, how is his death sentence to benefit mankind? Has not the old law of blood for blood been tried long trough? It is a disgrace to a Christian nation. Even Cain was con​sidered sufficiently punished by the Almighty Judge with the brand of murderer. But modern justice demands life for life.
Judge and jury, after days of deliberation, coolly condemn a man to he murdered in a barbarous manner, Although legal, surely no one will pretend to that death by hanging is natural, civilized, or refined. Every Christian pulpit, every Christian sect, should protest till this stain our country's laws shall be removed."

LEADER Mar. 16:4/4 - William Schallenberg, who is now in our county jail awaiting execution for the murder of his wife, declares that he is now a fine Christian, ready to meet his fate.
(10)

LEADER May 3; ed:1/7 - A majority of our citizens will undoubtedly learn with pleasure that the sentence of William Schallenberg has been commuted from hanging to imprisonment for life in the penitentiary.

"The action of Governor Hayes will most certainly meet with the approbation of a majority of our citizens. Schallenberg had no friends to aid him in making a defense, and received but little sympathy during is incarceration, He committed a crime which merits the most severe punishment and but few redeeming features could be found in his case. Nevertheless, his isolation from refined society, and the few opportunities he had enjoyed for cultivation, militated in his favor and served as a partial excuse for his crime."

LEADER May 5:1/8 - W. Schallenberg, whose sentence was recently com​muted, has asked us to publish the following. We cheerfully comply.

To the generous people of Cleveland: having recovered myself from the terrible shock resulting from the unexpected news, I desire to thank you for your kind sympathy. I had no hope nor wish to live, and my mind was fully prepared to atone upon the gallows fur my great crime, but since God in his mercy has pleased to spare me, I shall endeavor, by obedience to my Master and devotion to my duties, to prove myself worthy of your commiseration.

Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused 1: 

William Schallenberg



Ethnicity:

German
Race:


w
Gender:

m




Age:


adult


Literate:




Marital Status: 
 m. Anna Kading (common-law)
Children:




Occupation:



Town:


Cleveland

Birthplace:

Washington D.C.

Religion: 

Christian




Organizations:



Victim 1:  

Anna Kading Schallenberg



Ethnicity:

[German]
Race:


w
Gender: 

f



Age:


adult


Literate:




Marital Status:

m. William, estranged
Children:




Occupation:

prostitute
Town:


Cleveland

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1870, Oct. 8






Cleveland, CUY
P
INQ

Class:   certain

Crime:  HOM
Rela:   MARITAL RIVAL by HUSBAND 
Motive: JEALOUSY:  professionals, victim had affair with wife of the accused  
Intox?:  

Day of week:
Sat
Holiday?:
no


Time of day:


Days to death:  0

HOM:  Dr. Jay F. Galentine m. Dr. William H. Jones


Weapon:  pistol (revolver) shot to chest.

Circumstances:  Dr. Jones was apparently having an affair with Dr. Galentine’s wife and Dr. Galentine shot Jones when he appeared in the doorway outside WJ’s room half clothed.   Mrs. G claims that WJ had befriended and then had raped her.

Inquest:  633   Jones, Wm. H.          10-8-1870     murdered

Indictment:  1st degree murder

Term: 11/1870

Court proceedings:  jailed for 11/1870t.  18 witnesses, mostly character witnesses for Dr. Galentine. Mrs. Galentine’s testimony was ruled out by Judge Paine.  fG mansl.  10 yrs.
Legal Records:  


Cuyahoga County inquest 633

Newspaper:  
2185:  Cleveland Leader 10/10/1870:  4/1:  One of the most startling tragedies which has ever shocked this city transpired Oct. 8, resulting in the death of Dr. William H. Jones, who occupied rooms at Pearl and Detroit sts., over Ranney’s drug store.  W. B. Donalson, who was visiting his cousin, Dr. Jones, heard a shot, and going to see what was the matter, found Dr. Jones lying in his room with a bullet hole in his chest.  A gentleman who was in the vicinity, and who heard the pistol shot, rushed to the bottom of the stairs, where he met a man, who later identified himself as Dr. Jay F. Galentine, coming down the stairs.  ‘I have shot Dr Jones.’  HE went out on the street, where he was arrested.  Dr. Jones died eight minutes after he was shot.


The coroner’s verdict was that the deceased came to his death form a wound made by a bullet from a revolver which was fired by Dr. Galentine.  The prisoner, who is 27 years of age, avers that he shot Dr. Jones for allegedly seducing his wife.

2187:  Cleveland Leader 10/11/1870: 4/4,5:  Never was the public mind wrought up to a higher state of excitement than since the bloody tragedy which occurred Oct. 8 on the west side.  The facts already given in the case are meager and incomplete.  They make known the existence of a rape or seduction, followed by a sudden tragedy, and here the curtain falls.  The thousand acts of the drama which closed with the extinction of the life of Dr. William H. Jones, the incarceration of Dr. Jay F. Galentine as a murderer, and the branding of Mrs. Galentine as an adulteress have been effectually concealed as if silenced by death.  At the interview with Mrs. Galentine, she told of her husband’s absence, and how Dr. Jones had frequently invited her to go out with him, and she had refused.  She also told of his nocturnal visit, of his forced entrance to her room, and of the rape.

She states that the day after the outrage, she endeavored to obtain possession of the key by which Dr. Jones had entered her room, but was unable to do so.


Dr. Galentine is the son of very respectable parents residing in Brooklyn center.  His father, a physician of 528 Columbus St., is plunged in grief at the unfortunate conduct of his son, but still has the strongest confidence in his upright and honest character.  He believes his son was driven to the commission of the deed in a moment of madness, when he was unable to control himself.”

2188:  Cleveland Leader 10/14/1870:  4/3:  This morning Dr. Jay F. Galentine will be brought before the city police court for a preliminary examination.  Little evidence is to be heard, as the principal trial will be held in common pleas court.

2189:  Cleveland Leader 10/15/1870:  4/5:  The preliminary arraignment of Dr. Galentine took place yesterday.  A large crowd of spectators filled the courtroom.  It was desired to have Dr. Galentine’s photograph for publication, but he, as well as his father and mother, was opposed to it.  After the arraignment, Dr. Galentine was remanded to the county jail to await his trial at the November term of the common pleas court.

2190:  Cleveland Leader 10/18/1870:  4/4:  In this edition of the paper is shown a portrait of Dr. Jay F. Galentine.  It was engraved by Charles H. Ballou from a photograph taken by T. T. Sweeney.  The photograph was taken in the county jail by means of artificial light.

2194:  Cleveland Leader 11/11/1870:  4/4:  The case of Dr. Jay F. Galentine will come before the grand jury today.

2196:  Cleveland Leader 11/12/1870:  4/3:  Several witnesses in the case of Dr. Jay F. Galentine were brought before the grand jury yesterday, but no return has yet been made in the case.
2197:  Cleveland Leader 11/14/1870:  4/5:  No indictment has yet been returned against Dr. Galentine.  The grand jury was occupied form 9:30 a.m. on Oct. 12 until it adjourned at noon today.  An indictment will probably be returned today.
2198:  Cleveland Leader 11/15/1870:  4/4:  For three days, the grand jury has been occupied in considering the case of Dr. Jay F. Galentine.  From 30 to 40 witnesses were examined and all the testimony was well weighed.  At noon yesterday the examination of witnesses ceased, and later in the afternoon the grand jury returned the indictment of murder in the first degree.
2199:  Cleveland Leader 11/17/1870:  4/3:  Dr. Jay F. Galentine, indicted for the murder of Dr. William H. Jones, will be arraigned this morning before Judge Robert F. Paine.

2200:  Cleveland Leader 11/19/1870:  4/3:  Dr. Jay F. Galentine was arraigned yesterday morning before Judge Robert F. Paine.  He pleaded not guilty to the indictment of murder in the first degree.  The prisoner will be defended by former Judge Burke and S. E. Adams.  Notice has been given that a mothion for a continuance of the case will be made.

Cleveland LEADER 1/13/1871:4/4,6:  The facts leading to the murder of Dr. Willis H. Jones by Dr. Jay F. Galentine are as follows: During Dr. Galentine's absence, his wife consulted Dr. Jones for business advice. Dr. Jones deferred the meeting until the evening. That night he forced his way into her room. When Dr. Galentine heard of this, he was infuriated. Lie came to the office of the LEADER and had as publish an article headed, "Attempted Rape." Dr. Jones then confessed to Dr. Galentine what had occurred the night he was with Mrs. Galentine. Dr. Galentine purchased a pistol although his brother tried to persuade him to go about his revenge in a legal manner.

The next day Dr. Galentine overheard his wife and Dr. Jones saying they would not testify against each other, On Oct. 8, 1870, Dr. Galentine was denied admission to the bedroom where his wife and Dr. Jones were locked in. Later, Dr. Galentine shot Dr. Jones when he appeared half dressed in the doorway.


The counsels in the case are Prosecuting Attorney Edwin P. Slade, his assistant, A. T. Slade, Charles W. Palmer, and Homer D. DeWolf for the state; Samuel E. Adams, Esq., and Judge Burke for the defense

LEADER 1/17/1871:4/4,6 - "the trial of Dr. Jay F. Galentine continued yesterday. A jury was impanelled after much delay.
(70)
LEADER Jan. 18:1/7,9;4/4.5
the Galentine trial was continued yesterday morning.

Physicians were examined as to the wound, and the policemen as to the condition of the defendant when arrested. No new developments were discovered. The court adjourned until nine a.m. tomorrow.
(107)

LEADER Jan. 19:1/7.9;4/3,4 - Yesterday was the second day of the examination of witnesses in the trial of Dr. Jay F. Galentine.

The state closed the direct examination yesterday, after producing IB witnesses. the unit' testimony offered by the defense concerned Dr. Galentine's character.

Samuel Adams. defense attorney, then called five witnesses. They all told the court that Dr. Galentine was a good man with a good

character. Court was then adjourned until nine this morning.
(102)

LEADER Jan. 21:4/4,8 - Yesterday morning Judge Paine rendered his deci​sion on the testimony of Mrs. Galentine. He ruled it out and gave a lengthy discussion on his action for doing so.

Many witnesses were called to the stand and questioned regarding Dr. Galentine 's mental condition after the shooting of Dr. Junes. They reported that his character was good, but that his actions after the shooting were those of an insane person.

In the afternoon session, the prisoner's father, Dr. C. B. Galentine, testified. lie gave his ancestral account of various cases of insanity
in the Galentine family.
(111)

LEADER Feb, 8:3/3 - No murder trial since the McFarland case in New York has attracted so much attention throughout the country as the recent Galentine case in this city. Most of the leading newspapers have expressed opinions on the result, and everywhere there is hearty concurrence in the verdict and sentence. 'The New York TRIBUNE, the Chicago TRIBUNE, and the Detroit TRIBUNE each have expressed their opinions concerning the case.

LEADER Jan. 25:4/5-8 - There was little of interest transacted at the Galentine trial yesterday. Questions in the examination only touched upon those of character and insanity.


The condition of Galentine's father does not permit him to come to court. The state would like to cross-examine him to get the important facts concerning Galentine's separation from his wife when he went east last summer. It would also like information concerning his son's sanity and the prevalence of insanity in his family.


The court then adjourned till nine a.m. today.

LEADER Jan. 26:4/4-6 - Dr. Jay F. Galentine was again put on the stand for rebutting testimony yesterday. He explained his actions for being away from his wife at nights. Drs. Henry J. Herrick, A. G. Hart, J. N. Dalby, and John Bennett all expressed their opinions on insanity. John Galentine, the brother of the defendant, was then called to the stand. He stated that a Mrs. McArthur said to Galentine, sr., that his son Jay did not know what he was doing.


Usher, the last witness for the defense, was called, but was not preset) The court then adjourned until nine a.m. today.

LEADER Jan. 27:4/4,5 - Drs. II. F. Bigger, E. J. Cutter, and William J. Scott were placed on the stand yesterday, and all testified that the defendant, Dr. Galentine, was suffering from emotional insanity at the time of murder.


Many witnesses who once appeared on the witness stand were recalled, but no new developments occured.

Court was adjourned until nine a.m. today.

LEADER Feb. 1:1-7 - Slade, the prosecuting attorney, gave his address

to jury on Jan. 31. He stated that this was not a ease of killing because of adultery. but of premeditated murder. Slade slated that the defendant swore to everything about the crime until the shooting, then he plunged into a state of insanity. Slade touched upon every important phase of the case.

At a quarter to 11 the jury reecbed a decision. They found the de​fendant, Jay F. Galentine, guilty of manslaughter. Galentine wept with joy. The court attendance was well pleased with the decision.
(173)
LEADER Feb.
cd:2/2 - The Galentine trial is over. A large crowd sat through the trial day after day, drinking in the foul details of murder and adultery. "There certainly has been no good for them to do there, no virtuous but unfortunate woman for them to sustain and encourage by their presence, nothing for them to see or learn hut what would have been

far better unlearned."

LEADER Feb. 2:4/5 - An immense crowd gathered in the court room on the upectation that Galentine would receive the judgement of the court, but

were disappointed, as he was not called.

LEADER Feb. 3; cd:2/1,2 - The Galentine trial is over. Unfortunately, a crime of this sort takes a deep and lasting hold upon the sympathies and prejudices of society in a degree that is vicious and violent. The majority of the people did not agree with the verdict of ten years imprison ment. The sentiment of the public will not endorse the verdict that the husband has no right to take the law in his own hands. It believes that seduction of the wife is the most terrible of all crimes. The verdict says that the man that kills another who is guilty of dishonoring his wife is not to be regarded as a criminal deserving death. "It demonstrated once again that the instincts of our common humanity will find some pal​liation in excuse for the wronged husband who may execute his vengeance against the despoiler of his home; that the crime of seduction is a sin that in some degree exonerates, if it does not justify, the injured party in taking the life of the one who inflicted the injury.

Let our laws place this crime of seduction where it belongs, among the most heinous, demoralizing, and defiling in the calendar, and attach to its commission adequate penalties, and our courts will rarely be troubled, and the stream of our social life seldom corrupted, with such scenes as that which we of this community have just passed through.

LEADER Feb. 3:2/4
In a letter to the editor, "H" says: The injustice of the laws of today is obvious. Because William Schallenberg was poor, ignorant, and knew nobody, he was sentenced to death for the slaying of his wife. The more polished Galentine, who is educated and well informed about the law, shoots his victims with malice purposely, deliberately, and premeditatedly, and is found guilty only of manslaughter. What a mockery of all our notions of justice! Is not the law equal? Is it not for all? Why should not that justice which is meted out to one man be sufficient for his fellow man? Oh, what a farce is this test of guilt by a jury of one's peers!

LEADER Feb. 3:4/1,5 - Court convened yesterday at nine a.m. Prisoner Galentine was brought in the court room and asked if he had anything to say before the verdict was rendered. lie gave a short speech saving he hoped to he acquitted, and expressed his thanks to various people who did him favors. After careful analysis, Judge Paine pronounced his sen​tence. Galentine was to he removed to state penitentiary, confined and kept at hard labor for ten years, and was to pay the costs of prosecution.
Judge Paine based his decision on the fact that this was a case of second degree murder, and that the jury erred in calling it manslaugh​ter.

Thus Galentine received the full extent of the law.
(30)
2179 - L Feb. 6:4/3 - the cost of the Galentine trial, including $788.45 in witness fees, was 81,150.80. When the jury's mileage pay and other

expenses are added, the total will be about $2,200.
(1)
2181 - L Feb. 9:2/3,4 - In a letter to the editor, "L. H." says: In my opinion, society's punishment of its offenders is not always just. In the case of Dr. Jay F. Galentine strict justice tempered with mercy has hen rendered. With his education, social position. and refinement, does lot the severity of the penalty consist of something more than the hard-Cps of confinement in prison?

In the case of William Schallenberg, how is his death sentence to benefit mankind? Has not the old law of blood for blood been tried long trough? It is a disgrace to a Christian nation. Even Cain was con​sidered sufficiently punished by the Almighty Judge with the brand of murderer. But modern justice demands life for life.
Judge and jury, after days of deliberation, coolly condemn a man to he murdered in a barbarous manner, Although legal, surely no one will pretend to that death by hanging is natural, civilized, or refined. Every Christian pulpit, every Christian sect, should protest till this stain our country's laws shall be removed."

LEADER  Feb. 11:4/3 - The old proverb, birds of a feather flock together, was strangely verified in the cases of Dr. Jay F. Galentine and Andrew J. Bauder. They were intimate friends before the war, enlisted at the same time, fought in the same battles, were mustered out together, and came to Cleveland. They both had trouble with their wives, were indicted for murder, found guilty of manslaughter, and soon will be together again in the penitentiary.


Census:  

Genealogy:

Dr. Galentine’s father also a Dr. testified that there were various cases of insanity in the Galentine family.
JG:  son of “very respectable parents residing in Brooklyn center.”  His father is a physician at 528 Columbus St.
Accused:  

Dr. Jay F. Galentine



Ethnicity:



Race:


w



Gender: 

m



Age:


27
Literate: 

yes



Marital Status:

m  


Children:



Occupation: 

physician
Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Victim:  

Dr. William H. Jones



Ethnicity:

[Welsh]
Race:


w



Gender: 

m


Age:


adult


Literate: 

yes



Marital Status: 



Children:



Occupation: 

physician
Town:
Cleveland:  occupied rooms at Pearl and Detroit streets over Ranney’s drug store.
Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



1870, Oct.



Richmond settlement, Euclid Township, CUY
INQ
Class:   uncertain
Crime:   probable CAS GUN / possible HOM
Rela:    UNK
Motive:  UNK
Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


HOM:  unknown person may have m. William Vrbsky

Weapon:  gun [Long Gun]

Circumstances:  at “the so called Richmond settlement.”  WV and others were out hunting & he was shot – probably by another hunter, accidentally, although the man who shot him appeared to flee.

Inquest:  634:  i.d. 10/23/1870.  J. C. Schenck, coroner.  Verdict:  shooting.  “by wound caused by rifle ball, fired by some unknown person.”

Indictment:  


Term: 


Court proceedings:  
Legal Records:  


Cuyahoga Co. inquest 634
Newspaper:  

Census:  

Genealogy:

Accused:  

___
Ethnicity:



Race:




Gender:



Age:




Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Victim:  

William Vrbsky
Ethnicity:

[Polish]
Race:


w
Gender:

m
Age:


adult
Literate:



Marital Status:



Children:



Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



1870, Oct. 




Cleveland, CUY
INQ
P
Class:   certain
Crime:   HOM
Rela:    SPOUSE WIFE by HUSBAND
Motive:  UNK
Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:
no
Time of day:
night
Days to death:  0

HOM:  Anthony Moran m. ___ Moran

Weapon:  bleeding and bruised [phys]

Circumstances:  murdered in their home, a shanty near the light house.  

Inquest:  636:  i.d. 10/28/1870.  J. C. Schenck, coroner.  Verdict:  murdered.  “by violence, received at the hands of Anthony Moran.”

Indictment:  no:  bill not found for murder

Term: 11/1870

Court proceedings:  
Legal Records:  


636:  i.d. 10/28/1870:  murdered

Newspaper:  

2191:  Cleveland Leader 10/29/1870:  ed:  2/1:  There has been another wife murder in the midst of Cleveland.  This outrage was committed on the margin of a prominent street, so near that passersby at a late hour could have heard the groans of the dying woman.


“Had the groans and cries of this latest victim been heeded as they certainly should have done, it can hardly be doubted that her life might have been saved.  Whose fault it was we shall not discuss, but certainly some one is responsible.  As matters have gone recently, Cleveland, aided by Newburgh, seems likely to rival the bad fame of Memphis and Chicago.

2192:  Cleveland Leader 10/29/1870:  4/4:  Johnny Callahan, eight years old, in the midst of a storm last night was thrown out of one of the shanties on Lighthouse hill by his stepfather, Anthony Moran.  The boy was forced to seek a night’s lodging with his grandmother, who lives a little farther down the hill.  He returned a little while later to his own shanty, where an appalling sight met his view.  His mother was lying on the floor, bleeding and bruised, and about her body were tatters torn form her dress and knots of hair wrenched from her head.  Four children were sleeping in the room.  The stepfather was asleep in the chair.  The child ran to his grandmother and told her, and she soon had the neighborhood aroused.  Moran was then locked in confinement at eh central station and charged with beating his wife to death.

2194:  Cleveland Leader 11/11/1870:  4/4:  The grand jury has failed to fin a true bill against Anthony Moran, charged with the murder of his wife.

2196:  Cleveland Leader 11/12/1870:  4/3:  An order was issued yesterday for the release of Anthony Moran, charged with the murder of his wife.

Census:  

Genealogy:

Accused:  

Anthony Moran 
Ethnicity:

[Irish]
Race:


w
Gender:

m
Age:


adult
Literate:



Marital Status:  
m
Children:

at least one stepson, Johnny Callaghan (8)
Occupation:



Town:


Cleveland:  in a shanty on Lighthouse Hill
Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Victim:  

___ Moran
Ethnicity:

[Irish]
Race:


w
Gender:

f
Age:


adult
Literate:



Marital Status:

m. Anthony – she had been married before
Children:

at least 1 child, Johnny Callaghan (8)
Occupation:



Town:


Cleveland:  in a shanty on Lighthouse Hill
Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Suspect(s

















Suspect(s





Suspect(s





Suspect(s





Suspect(s








